# Characterizations and fine properties of functions of bounded variation on metric measure spaces

Panu Lahti



DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS

## Characterizations and fine properties of functions of bounded variation on metric measure spaces

Panu Lahti

A doctoral dissertation completed for the degree of Doctor of Science to be defended, with the permission of the Aalto University School of Science, at a public examination held at the lecture hall M1 of the school on 16 May 2014 at 12.

Aalto University School of Science Department of Mathematics and Systems Analysis Nonlinear PDE research group

### Supervising professor

Prof. Juha Kinnunen

### Thesis advisor

Prof. Juha Kinnunen

#### **Preliminary examiners**

Prof. Nicola Fusco, University of Naples Federico II, Italy Dr. Valentino Magnani, University of Pisa, Italy

### Opponent

Prof. Frank Duzaar, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Germany

Aalto University publication series **DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS** 44/2014

© Panu Lahti

ISBN 978-952-60-5633-3 ISBN 978-952-60-5634-0 (pdf) ISSN-L 1799-4934 ISSN 1799-4934 (printed) ISSN 1799-4942 (pdf) http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-60-5634-0

Unigrafia Oy Helsinki 2014

Finland



441 697 Printed matter



#### Author

Panu Lahti

Name of the doctoral dissertation

Characterizations and fine properties of functions of bounded variation on metric measure spaces

Publisher School of Science

Unit Department of Mathematics and Systems Analysis

 $\textbf{Series} \ \text{Aalto University publication series DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS} \ 44/2014$ 

Field of research Mathematics

Manuscript submitted	4 February 2014	Date of the defence 16 May 2014
Permission to publish	granted (date) 19 March 2014	Language English
Monograph	🛛 Article disserta	tion (summary + original articles

#### Abstract

In this thesis we study functions of bounded variation, abbreviated as BV functions, on metric measure spaces. We always assume the space to be equipped with a doubling measure, and mostly we also assume it to support a Poincaré inequality.

A central topic in the thesis are the various characterizations of BV functions. We show that BV functions can be characterized by a pointwise inequality involving the maximal function of a finite measure. Furthermore, we study the Federer-type characterization of sets of finite perimeter, according to which a set is of finite perimeter if and only if the codimension one Hausdorff measure of the set's measure theoretic boundary is finite. Through the study of so-called strong relative isoperimetric inequalities, we establish a slightly weakened version of this characterization.

Moreover, we prove the Federer-type characterization on spaces that support a geometric Semmes family of curves. On such spaces, between every pair of points there is a curve family with certain uniformity properties that resemble the behavior of parallel lines on a Euclidean space. Our proof relies on first proving a characterization of BV functions in terms of curves.

We also study functionals of linear growth, which give a generalization of BV functions. We consider an integral representation for such functionals by means of the variation measure, but contrary to the Euclidean case, the functional and the integral representation are only comparable instead of being equal. As a by-product of our analysis, we are able to characterize those BV functions that are in fact Newton-Sobolev functions.

As an application of the integral representation, we consider a minimization problem for the functionals of linear growth, and show that the boundary values of such a problem can be expressed as a penalty term in which we integrate over the boundary of the domain. For this, we need to study boundary traces and extensions of BV functions. Our analysis of traces also produces novel pointwise results on the behavior of BV functions in their jump sets.

**Keywords** boundary trace, characterization, doubling measure, extension, finite perimeter, function of bounded variation, functional of linear growth, integral representation, Poincaré inequality, relative isoperimetric inequality, Semmes family of curves

ISBN (printed) 978-952-60-5633-	-3 ISBN (pdf) 978-952-	60-5634-0
ISSN-L 1799-4934	ISSN (printed) 1799-4934	ISSN (pdf) 1799-4942
Location of publisher Helsinki	Location of printing Helsinki	Year 2014
Pages 199	urn http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:97	8-952-60-5634-0



#### Tekijä

Panu Lahti

Väitöskirjan nimi

Rajoitetusti heilahtelevien funktioiden karakterisaatioita ja ominaisuuksia metrisissä mittaavaruuksissa

Julkaisija Perustieteiden korkeakoulu

Yksikkö Matematiikan ja systeemianalyysin laitos

Sarja Aalto University publication series DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS 44/2014

Tutkimusala Matematiikka

Monografia	🛛 Yhdistelmäväitöskiria	(vhteenveto-osa + erillisartikkelit)
Julkaisuluvan myöntä	imispäivä 19.03.2014	Kieli Englanti
Käsikirjoituksen pvm	04.02.2014	Väitöspäivä 16.05.2014

#### Tiivistelmä

Tässä väitöskirjassa tutkitaan rajoitetusti heilahtelevia funktioita, lyhennettynä BVfunktioita, metrisissä mitta-avaruuksissa. Avaruuden oletetaan aina olevan varustettu tuplaavalla mitalla, ja enimmäkseen oletetaan myös, että Poincarén epäyhtälö pätee.

Keskeinen aihe väitöskirjassa ovat BV-funktioiden erilaiset karakterisaatiot. Työssä osoitetaan, että BV-funktiot voidaan karakterisoida pisteittäisellä epäyhtälöllä, jossa esiintyy äärellisen mitan maksimaalifunktio. Lisäksi tutkitaan äärellisperimetristen joukkojen Federer-tyyppistä karakterisaatiota, jonka mukaan joukolla on äärellinen perimetri jos ja vain jos joukon mittateoreettisen reunan kodimensio yksi Hausdorffin mitta on äärellinen. Työssä todistetaan lievästi heikennetty versio tästä karakterisaatiosta tutkimalla niin sanottuja vahvoja relatiivisia isoperimetrisiä epäyhtälöitä.

Lisäksi osoitetaan, että yllä mainittu Federer-tyyppinen karakterisaatio pätee sellaisissa avaruuksissa, joissa esiintyy geometrinen Semmesin polkuparvi. Tällaisissa avaruuksissa jokaisen kahden pisteen välillä on polkuparvi, jolla on tiettyjä uniformisuusominaisuuksia, jotka jäljittelevät yhdensuuntaisten suorien käyttäytymistä euklidisessa avaruudessa. Federertyyppisen karakterisaation todistus nojautuu käyrien avulla esitettyyn BV-funktioiden karakterisaatioon, joka todistetaan ensin.

Työssä tutkitaan myös lineaarisen kasvun funktionaaleja, jotka muodostavat BV-funktioiden yleistyksen. Tällaisille funktionaaleille tarkastellaan integraaliesitystä variaatiomitan avulla, mutta toisin kuin euklidisessa tapauksessa, funktionaali ja integraaliesitys ovat vain verrannolliset eivätkä yhtäsuuret. Tarkastelujen sivutuotteena onnistutaan karakterisoimaan sellaiset BV-funktiot, jotka ovat Newton-Sobolev-funktioita.

Integraaliesityksen sovelluksena tutkitaan lineaarisen kasvun funktionaaleihin liittyvää minimointiongelmaa ja osoitetaan, että tällaisen ongelman reuna-arvot voidaan esittää sakkoterminä, jossa integroidaan alueen reunan yli. Tätä varten on tutkittava BV-funktioiden reunajälkiä ja jatkeita. Työssä esitetty reunajälkien analyysi johtaa myös uusiin pisteittäisiin tuloksiin koskien BV-funktioiden käyttäytymistä niiden hyppyjoukossa.

Avainsanat integraaliesitys, jatke, karakterisaatio, lineaarisen kasvun funktionaali, Poincarén epäyhtälö, rajoitetusti heilahteleva funktio, relatiivinen isoperimetrinen epäyhtälö, reunajälki, Semmesin polkuparvi, tuplaava mitta, äärellinen perimetri

10 /		
ISBN (painettu) 978-952-60	-5633-3 ISBN (pdf)	978-952-60-5634-0
ISSN-L 1799-4934	ISSN (painettu) 1799-493	4 ISSN (pdf) 1799-4942
Julkaisupaikka Helsinki	Painopaikka Helsinki	<b>Vuosi</b> 2014
Sivumäärä 199	<b>urn</b> http://urn.fi/URN:ISB	N:978-952-60-5634-0

## Preface

First of all, I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisor, professor Juha Kinnunen for his guidance and advice throughout my doctoral studies. Since the time I first embarked on the study of mathematical analysis in 2009, he has provided me with abundant personal instruction, worthwhile research topics, as well as opportunities for domestic and international collaboration with various experts in the field.

I am grateful to have had the chance to work with my co-authors Heikki Hakkarainen, Juha Kinnunen, Riikka Korte, Pekka Lehtelä, Nageswari Shanmugalingam, and Heli Tuominen in preparing the articles that constitute this thesis. Their wisdom as well as their light-hearted sense of humor have been great assets during my doctoral studies.

I wish to thank the pre-examiners of my thesis, professors Nicola Fusco and Valentino Magnani for their valuable feedback, and professor Frank Duzaar for being my opponent in the public defense of this thesis.

For financial support, I am indebted to the Finnish Academy of Science and Letters, the Vilho, Yrjö and Kalle Väisälä Foundation. Naturally I am also grateful to the Department of Mathematics and Systems Analysis of Aalto University for providing the facilities in which I have conducted the research.

Finally, I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my family and friends for all their support, encouragement and the interest they have shown in my doctoral studies.

Helsinki, April 4, 2014,

Panu Lahti

Preface

# Contents

Preface	1
Contents	
List of Publications	5
Author's Contribution	7
1. Introduction	9
2. Analysis on metric measure spaces and $\operatorname{BV}$ functions	13
3. Coarea formulas and relative isoperimetric inequalities	19
4. Discrete convolutions	25
5. Characterizations of $BV$ functions	29
6. Semmes family of curves	33
7. Functionals of linear growth	37
8. Traces and extensions of $\operatorname{BV}$ functions	41
Bibliography	47
Publications	53

Contents

## **List of Publications**

This thesis consists of an overview and of the following publications which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Panu Lahti and Heli Tuominen. A pointwise characterization of functions of bounded variation on metric spaces.
   Accepted for publication in Ricerche di Matematica, DOI 10.1007/s11587-013-0161-9, June 2013.
- II Riikka Korte and Panu Lahti. Relative isoperimetric inequalities and sufficient conditions for finite perimeter on metric spaces. *Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré Analyse Non Linéaire*, Volume 31 (2014), Issue 1, Pages 129–154, DOI 10.1016/j.anihpc.2013.01.005, February 2014.
- III Riikka Korte, Panu Lahti, and Nageswari Shanmugalingam. Semmes family of curves and a characterization of functions of bounded variation in terms of curves. http://cvgmt.sns.it/paper/2229/, September 2013.
- IV Heikki Hakkarainen, Juha Kinnunen, Panu Lahti, and Pekka Lehtelä. Relaxation and integral representation for functionals of linear growth on metric measure spaces. *arXiv:1401.5717*, January 2014.
- V Panu Lahti. Extensions and traces of functions of bounded variation on metric spaces. arXiv:1402.0797, January 2014.

List of Publications

## **Author's Contribution**

# Publication I: "A pointwise characterization of functions of bounded variation on metric spaces"

The author has performed a substantial part of the analysis and writing of the article.

# Publication II: "Relative isoperimetric inequalities and sufficient conditions for finite perimeter on metric spaces"

The author has played a central role in preparing the article.

# Publication III: "Semmes family of curves and a characterization of functions of bounded variation in terms of curves"

The author has performed a substantial part of the analysis and writing of the article.

# Publication IV: "Relaxation and integral representation for functionals of linear growth on metric measure spaces"

The author has played a central role in preparing the article.

# Publication V: "Extensions and traces of functions of bounded variation on metric spaces"

The article is the result of the author's independent research.

Author's Contribution

### 1. Introduction

The purpose of this thesis is to study functions of bounded variation, abbreviated as BV functions, on metric measure spaces. In the classical Euclidean setting, BV functions are defined as integrable functions whose weak partial derivatives are signed measures of finite mass. Thus they form a more general class of functions than Sobolev functions, whose weak partial derivatives are integrable functions. When studying *p*-integrable functions in the "geometric" case p = 1, and in the study of the calculus of variations, BV functions are often a natural class to work with.

On the real line, BV functions can be defined in a natural way, by essentially demanding the oscillation of a function to be finite. A central problem in the history of the field has been to find a suitable generalization of this definition for several variables, see [7, Section 3.12]. This problem was eventually solved by De Giorgi and others, and several equivalent definitions of BV functions on Euclidean spaces are now available. One of them is formulated by means of weak partial derivatives as above, while another one, more suitable for generalization to metric measure spaces, involves approximation of a function by Lipschitz functions.

Accordingly, on a metric measure space  $(X, d, \mu)$  equipped with a metric d and a Radon measure  $\mu$ , we define BV functions through a relaxation procedure as follows. First we define upper gradients, which are a generalization of the Euclidean gradient, or more precisely its modulus. Following Miranda [60], we then define the total variation ||Du||(X) for an integrable function  $u \in L^1(X)$  by

$$\|Du\|(X) := \inf \left\{ \liminf_{i \to \infty} \int_X g_i \, d\mu : \, u_i \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X), \, u_i \to u \text{ in } L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(X) \right\},$$

where each  $g_i$  is an upper gradient of  $u_i$ . Now  $u \in BV(X)$  if  $||Du||(X) < \infty$ .

One of the main purposes of this thesis is to study other characterizations of BV functions. To begin with, we note that since BV functions are defined by a relaxation procedure by means of Newton-Sobolev, or Newtonian functions  $N^{1,1}(X)$ , which are integrable functions with integrable upper gradients, it is expected that the various characterizations of these two classes are often quite analogous. Characterizations of Newtonian functions are presently quite well understood, but characterizations of BV functions as well as the relationship between the two classes less so. Toward a better understanding of this relationship, in this thesis we characterize those BV functions that are in fact Newtonian functions.

#### Introduction

In the general metric setting, it is previously known that BV functions can be characterized by a Poincaré-type inequality involving a Radon measure of finite mass, as shown by Miranda [60]. From this, other characterizations can be derived. In particular, we prove a pointwise characterization of BV functions, involving the maximal function of a Radon measure of finite mass. This type of characterization is previously known for Newtonian functions, but for BV functions it is new also in the Euclidean setting.

While the metric measure space  $(X, d, \mu)$  we work with is far more general than the classical Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we do make certain assumptions on the space. First, we assume that the measure  $\mu$  is doubling, meaning that doubling the radius of a ball increases its measure at most by a given factor. Second, in most of the thesis we assume that the space supports a Poincaré inequality, which gives control over the oscillation of a function by means of its upper gradient. These two assumptions are standard in recent literature on analysis on metric measure spaces.

An important special case of BV functions are sets of finite perimeter, which are sets  $E \subset X$  whose characteristic functions are in the class BV(X). For such sets, the most important classical characterization, first proved by Federer [23], is that a set is of finite perimeter if and only if the codimension one Hausdorff measure of the set's measure theoretic boundary is finite. In the general metric setting, one direction of this equivalence has been established by Ambrosio [4]. In this thesis, we prove a partial result in the other direction by means of so-called relative isoperimetric inequalities.

Moreover, we also take another approach to proving the Federer-type characterization, by first noting that the classical proof strongly depends on the properties of parallel lines on a Euclidean space. We show that the proof can be extended to the more general metric setting by assuming the existence of a suitable curve family, known as a Semmes family of curves, between every pair of points in the space. Crucially, the relevant uniformity properties of parallel Euclidean lines can be distilled into a few conditions that can be expressed for curves in the general metric setting.

In this thesis we also consider a generalization of BV functions that has previously been studied in the Euclidean setting, given by functionals of linear growth. This type of functionals are similar to the total variation functional, with the difference that in their definition the upper gradient  $g_i$  is replaced by  $f(g_i)$ , where f is a real-valued function satisfying certain conditions. We study an integral representation for functionals of linear growth by means of the variation measure, but contrary to the Euclidean case, the functional and the integral representation are only comparable instead of being equal.

By applying the integral representation to a minimization problem related to the functional of linear growth, we are led to the study of various fine properties of BV functions. Since the minimization problem involves boundary values, the concept of boundary traces of BV functions becomes relevant. These are well understood in Euclidean spaces, but appear not to have been studied in the general metric setting. We present two approaches to constructing boundary traces. Both also involve the concept of extensions of BV functions from a domain to the whole space, motivating us to establish certain sufficient conditions for the existence of such extensions. Finally, our analysis of traces produces some novel pointwise results on the behavior of a BV function in its jump set.

This thesis is organized as follows. In Sections 2 to 8 we first introduce the relevant definitions, previously known results, and some historical background, and proceed to present the main results of our study, as well as various unifying ideas and techniques behind them. The last part of the thesis contains the five original articles. Introduction

# 2. Analysis on metric measure spaces and BV functions

In the past two decades, Sobolev functions, functions of bounded variation, various types of minimization problems etc. have been defined and studied in the setting of general metric measure spaces. While these topics have been more thoroughly studied in the more specific contexts of Euclidean spaces, Riemannian manifolds, Carnot-Carathéodory spaces, etc., it has turned out that many of the relevant concepts and results can be established with rather few assumptions on the space. By a metric measure space  $(X, d, \mu)$  we mean a complete, separable metric space X equipped with a metric d and a Radon measure  $\mu$  — even the completeness is superfluous for many results. Later we will often refer to this type of space as the "general metric setting", or simply as a "metric space", usually with the additional assumptions of a doubling measure and a Poincaré inequality, which will be defined in this section. On the other hand, by a "Euclidean space" or the "Euclidean setting" we mean, unless otherwise specified, the standard space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the Euclidean distance and (unweighted) Lebesgue measure. Sometimes we use the word "classical" when referring to Euclidean results.

One of the central problems when introducing analysis on metric spaces is finding suitable definitions for Sobolev functions and "first order calculus". As in most of the relevant literature, in this thesis we assume all functions to be (extended) real-valued. One possible extension of Sobolev functions to metric spaces was presented by Hajłasz in [29]. For  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , a function  $u \in L^p(X)$  belongs to the Hajłasz-Sobolev space  $M^{1,p}(X)$  if there is a function  $g \in L^p(X)$ , called the Hajłasz gradient, such that

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le d(x, y)(g(x) + g(y))$$

for  $\mu$ -almost every  $x, y \in X$ , that is, for all x, y outside a set of  $\mu$ -measure zero. For 1 , this type of pointwise inequality is satisfied by $the classical Sobolev functions <math>u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and in fact the inequality gives a characterization as long as  $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . A counterexample in the case p = 1 is given in [28, Example 3]; unfortunately, this is precisely the relevant case in the study of BV functions.

Another property, and in a sense drawback, of Hajłasz-Sobolev functions is that the Hajłasz gradient is determined by the global behavior of the function, while usually any generalization of a derivative is expected to be a local concept. Moreover, Hajłasz-Sobolev functions automatically satisfy a Poincaré inequality regardless of the structure of the underlying metric space, demonstrating how restricted the class is. Another possible extension of Sobolev functions to metric spaces was given by Heinonen and Koskela in [41], where so-called *upper gradients* (originally termed very weak gradients) were introduced. A nonnegative Borel function g is an upper gradient of an extended real-valued function u if for every curve  $\gamma$  with end points x and y — we always assume a curve to be rectifiable and parametrized by arc-length — we have

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le \int_{\gamma} g \, ds. \tag{2.1}$$

Now we are ready to define the class of Newton-Sobolev, or Newtonian functions, as given by Shanmugalingam in [65]. For  $1 \le p < \infty$ , the Newtonian space  $N^{1,p}(X)$  consists of functions  $u \in L^p(X)$  that have an upper gradient  $g \in L^p(X)$ . On the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we have  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n) = N^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for all  $1 \le p < \infty$ , with suitable choice of representatives. As the case p = 1 is included here, Newtonian functions can be considered a natural extension of Sobolev functions to metric spaces, and the class is employed in this thesis as well as in plenty of recent literature.

One disadvantage of upper gradients is that they are not preserved under  $L^p$ -convergence. This is one motivation for the introduction of *pweak upper gradients*, first defined in [52]. For the definition, we first need the concept of *p*-modulus of a curve family, as given in [25] or in [61], and later defined in the metric setting in [65]. If  $\Gamma$  is a subset of all curves on the space, we define the *p*-modulus of  $\Gamma$  as

$$\operatorname{Mod}_p(\Gamma) := \inf \int_X \rho^p \, d\mu,$$

where the infimum is taken over all nonnegative Borel functions  $\rho$  on X that satisfy  $\int_{\gamma} \rho \, ds \geq 1$  for every  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . If a property holds for all curves apart from a family  $\Gamma$  with  $\operatorname{Mod}_p(\Gamma) = 0$ , we say that the property holds for p-almost every curve. Now we can give the following definition: a nonnegative  $\mu$ -measurable function g is a p-weak upper gradient of an extended real-valued function u if (2.1) holds for p-almost every curve  $\gamma$  on the space. It can be shown that p-weak upper gradients are preserved under  $L^p$ -convergence [13, Proposition 2.2]. Moreover, from the definition of p-modulus it follows quite easily that every p-weak upper gradient can be approximated in the  $L^p$ -norm by upper gradients. Another advantage of p-weak upper gradient, denoted by  $g_u \in L^p(X)$ , that satisfies  $g_u(x) \leq g(x)$  for  $\mu$ -almost every  $x \in X$ , for any other p-weak upper gradient  $g \in L^p(X)$  [30, Theorem 7.16].

Based on the definition of p-modulus, it is straightforward to show that a Newtonian function  $u \in N^{1,p}(X)$  is absolutely continuous on p-almost every curve. This is analogous with the fact that Sobolev functions on Euclidean spaces are absolutely continuous on almost every line parallel to a coordinate axis, see e.g. [22, p. 164].

Yet another definition of Sobolev functions on metric spaces is given by a relaxation procedure in [20]. In this definition, one considers functions  $u \in L^p(X)$  for which there is a sequence  $u_i \to u$  in  $L^p(X)$  such that a sequence of upper gradients  $g_i$  of  $u_i$  is bounded in  $L^p(X)$ . This definition turns out to be equivalent with the definition of Newtonian functions when 1 , but in the case <math>p = 1 the definition gives functions of bounded variation instead. More precisely, given a function  $u \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ , we define the *total variation* of u as

$$\|Du\|(X) := \inf\left\{\liminf_{i \to \infty} \int_X g_i \, d\mu : \, u_i \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X), \, u_i \to u \text{ in } L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)\right\},\tag{2.2}$$

where each  $g_i$  is an upper gradient — or 1-weak upper gradient — of  $u_i$ . We say that a function  $u \in L^1(X)$  is a function of bounded variation,  $u \in BV(X)$ , if  $||Du||(X) < \infty$ . When  $u = \chi_E$ , we say that the set E is of *finite perimeter*. Often we also use the more convenient notation  $P(E, X) := ||D\chi_E||(X)$ . The total variation can also be defined in any open set  $\Omega$ , instead of the whole space X. The quantity ||Du||(A) can then be defined for any set A by approximation:

$$||Du||(A) := \inf\{||Du||(\Omega) : \Omega \text{ open}, A \subset \Omega\}.$$

Miranda has shown that by this definition, ||Du|| is a Radon measure, called the variation measure [60, Theorem 3.4]. On the other hand, in this thesis we use the fact that *Newtonian* functions can be defined in any  $\mu$ -measurable set  $A \subset X$  by considering it as a metric space in its own right. Of course, we could define BV(A) as well, but we prefer to use the above procedure of approximating general sets by open sets in order to achieve the measure property for ||Du||.

For the possible definitions of BV functions on Euclidean spaces, we refer to the beginning of Section 5. Classical treatments of BV functions can be found in [23], [7], [22], [27], [67], [11], and more recently [56].

As indicated above, the space BV(X) is in some ways a natural limit of the Newtonian spaces as  $p \to 1^+$ . Of course, Newtonian spaces  $N^{1,p}(X)$ are also defined for p = 1, but the space  $N^{1,1}(X)$  lacks some of the good properties of the space BV(X), such as a compactness result, see [60, Theorem 3.7]. Newtonian functions and BV functions are also otherwise closely connected — for example, the theory of BV functions is useful in the study of Newtonian functions, especially in the case p = 1, when the  $L^p$ -boundedness of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator is not available. See for example the study of Lebesgue points in [49].

A standing assumption on the space which we maintain throughout the thesis, and which is also standard in recent literature, is that the measure  $\mu$  is *doubling*. This means that for some constant  $c_d \ge 1$ , known as the doubling constant of the measure, and every ball  $B = B(x, r) := \{y \in X : d(y, x) < r\}$ , we have

$$0 < \mu(B(x,2r)) \le c_d \mu(B(x,r)) < \infty.$$

Note that we will often write  $\lambda B$  for  $B(x, \lambda r)$ . On a metric space, a ball B does not necessarily have a unique center point and radius, but we assume every ball to come with a prescribed center and radius. By iterating the doubling condition, we easily get

$$\frac{\mu(B(y,r))}{\mu(B(x,R))} \ge C\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^Q \tag{2.3}$$

for every  $0 < r \le R$  and  $y \in B(x, R)$ , and some Q > 1 and C > 0 that only depend on  $c_d$ . In this thesis we follow the standard practice of denoting by C a positive constant whose value and dependence on other constants we do not always specify.

The doubling condition ensures that the Vitali covering theorem holds, allowing to establish various classical results, such as the Radon-Nikodym differentiation theorem, on the metric space — see e.g. [42]. It is also a useful fact that a complete metric space equipped with a doubling measure is proper, that is, closed and bounded sets are compact. Note that the Lebesgue measure on a Euclidean space is obviously doubling, and for other examples of spaces carrying doubling measures, see e.g. [9] or [66].

As mentioned, in this thesis we always assume the measure  $\mu$  to be doubling, but it is still important for us to note that many results hold without this assumption. This is because the measure  $\mu$  might not be doubling when we consider a set  $D \subset X$  as a metric space in its own right, and *restrict* the measure  $\mu$  to D. For example, in Theorem 4.6 of Publication IV we show that a particular function defined on the whole space is in the class  $N^{1,1}(D)$  for a given set  $D \subset X$ . Despite the fact that the measure  $\mu$  is not necessarily doubling in D, in our proof we are still able to apply certain results on Newtonian functions to the class  $N^{1,1}(D)$ .

Another standard assumption in analysis on metric spaces is the Poincaré inequality. It is obvious that upper gradients do not give much control of a function unless there are plenty of curves (assumed to be rectifiable) on the space. For  $1 \le q, p < \infty$ , we say that the space X supports a (q, p)-Poincaré inequality if for all locally integrable functions u on X and all p-weak upper gradients g of u, all balls B = B(x, r), and some constants  $c_P > 0, \lambda \ge 1$ , we have

$$\left(\int_{B} |u - u_B|^q \, d\mu\right)^{1/q} \le c_P r \left(\int_{\lambda B} g^p \, d\mu\right)^{1/p},$$

where

$$u_B := \oint_B u \, d\mu := \frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_B u \, d\mu.$$

Essentially the Poincaré inequality enables us to control the oscillation of a function u by means of its upper gradient g. With BV functions, we are mostly interested in the case p = 1 and q = 1; however, it is sometimes a useful fact that by the Sobolev embedding theorem, the number q can be increased to the value Q/(Q-1), where Q was defined in (2.3). By applying the (q, 1)-Poincaré inequality to a sequence of approximating functions in the definition of the total variation, we get a BV version of the inequality:

$$\left(\int_{B} |u - u_B|^q \, d\mu\right)^{1/q} \le c_P r \frac{\|Du\|(\lambda B)}{\mu(\lambda B)}$$

For a list of spaces that support a Poincaré inequality, see e.g. Chapter 12 of [30]. Examples include Euclidean spaces, compact Riemannian manifolds, complete Riemannian manifolds with nonnegative Ricci curvature (see [63, Section 3.3.5]), Carnot-Carathéodory spaces, and certain topological manifolds (see [64] as well as Section 6 of this thesis). In general,

support of a Poincaré inequality on a space can be analyzed through various necessary and sufficient conditions, many of which we consider in this thesis. The Poincaré inequality as well as the Newtonian spaces  $N^{1,p}(X)$  and the doubling property of the measure extend in a natural way from X to its completion [2, Proposition 7.1]. This means that assuming X to be complete in the first place, as we do in this thesis, is not very restrictive.

In nearly all of this thesis, the Poincaré inequality is a standing assumption. On a few occasions it is used explicitly, for example when we construct discrete convolutions of BV functions, see Section 4. On several occasions we use a well-known consequence of the Poincaré inequality, namely quasiconvexity of the space, see e.g. [31, Proposition 4.4]. Quasiconvexity means that there is a constant  $L \ge 1$  such that every pair of points  $x, y \in X$  can be connected by a curve whose length is at most Ld(x, y). This implies that there is a bi-Lipschitz change of the metric that results in a *geodesic* space, where the distance between any two points is precisely the length of the shortest curve connecting them.

Bi-Lipschitz transformations of the metric are highly convenient since many interesting properties such as the doubling property of the measure and any Poincaré inequality are preserved in such transformations, even though the constants may change. For example, in Publication I we wish to prove a Poincaré-type inequality starting from a pointwise inequality. However, we need an auxiliary geometric lemma which we are only able to prove in the case of a geodesic space. Thus we employ a bi-Lipschitz change of the metric resulting in a geodesic space, and at the end of the proof we switch back to the original space. In Publication II we need the continuity of the measure  $\mu(B(x,r))$  both as a function of the point x and of the radius r. This type of continuity holds on a geodesic space due to the so-called annular decay property shown by Buckley [18, Corollary 2.2], so again we perform a change of the metric.

Note that in some of the literature on BV functions on metric spaces, and also in Publications I and II of this thesis, the upper gradient  $g_i$  in the definition of the total variation (2.2) is replaced by the local Lipschitz constant  $\lim u_i$ , which is defined as

$$\lim u(x) := \liminf_{r \to 0} \sup_{y \in B(x,r)} \frac{|u(y) - u(x)|}{d(y,x)}.$$

The local Lipschitz constant is known to be an upper gradient of a locally Lipschitz function, see e.g. [20, Proposition 1.11]. Conversely, if  $1 \le p < \infty$  and the space supports a (1, p)-Poincaré inequality, we have for any  $u \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$  that  $\operatorname{lip} u(x) \le Cg_u(x)$  for  $\mu$ -almost every  $x \in X$ , where  $g_u$ is the minimal p-weak upper gradient of u [20, Theorem 4.26]. Here the constant C depends only on the doubling constant and the constants in the Poincaré inequality. This implies that the two definitions give comparable values of the total variation, and thus produce the same space  $\operatorname{BV}(X)$ , as long as the space X supports a (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality. For 1 , $we have in fact <math>\operatorname{lip} u(x) = g_u(x)$  for  $\mu$ -almost every  $x \in X$  [20, Theorem 6.1].

A (1, p)-Poincaré inequality also implies that Lipschitz functions are dense in  $N^{1,p}(X)$  for any  $1 \le p < \infty$  [13, Theorem 5.47]. Thus on spaces

that support a (1,1)-Poincaré inequality, we have by the definition of the total variation that  $N^{1,1}(X) \subset BV(X)$ , an inclusion that holds on Euclidean spaces almost by definition, see Section 5. On the other hand, in Publication II we do not always assume the space to support a Poincaré inequality, and then it seems more natural to use the local Lipschitz constant in the definition of the total variation, because on some spaces with few curves, the zero function is an upper gradient of every function. However, it has been recently shown in [6, Theorem 1.1] that the definitions are equivalent and give the same value of the total variation even without the assumptions of a Poincaré inequality or a doubling measure, and likewise we still have  $N^{1,1}(X) \subset BV(X)$ .

# 3. Coarea formulas and relative isoperimetric inequalities

In classical measure theory, a central result is the so-called coarea formula in which an *n*-dimensional integral is presented as a double integral of dimensions n-k and k, generalizing Fubini's theorem, see e.g. [23, Section 3.2] or [7, Theorem 2.93]. See also [57] for some generalizations to the general metric setting. For BV functions on metric spaces, there exists a coarea formula that is likewise of central importance, and it reads as follows: given a locally integrable function u on an open set  $\Omega$ , we have

$$\|Du\|(\Omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\{u > t\}, \Omega) dt, \qquad (3.1)$$

where we use the abbreviation  $\{u > t\} := \{x \in X : u(x) > t\}$ . This was proved in [60, Proposition 4.2], following the Euclidean version of the proof given in [22, p. 185]. The coarea formula states that we can present the total variation of u as an integral of the perimeters of the super-level sets. These sets are necessarily of finite perimeter for almost every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , provided that  $||Du||(\Omega) < \infty$ . The coarea formula plays a major role in the proofs of several key results in BV theory. This is natural, since sets of finite perimeter are a special case of BV functions and allow for several strong results concerning for example representation of the perimeter measure, see [4, Theorem 5.3]. The coarea formula can then be applied to extend these results to general BV functions — see e.g. the decomposition of the variation measure presented in [9, Theorem 5.3].

Another important tool in analysis of BV functions on metric spaces is the *relative isoperimetric inequality*. This is simply the BV version of the Poincaré inequality, in the special case where u is the characteristic function of a  $\mu$ -measurable set E:

$$\min\{\mu(B \cap E), \mu(B \setminus E)\} \le c_I r \|D\chi_E\|(\lambda B)$$

for any ball B = B(x, r), some constant  $c_I > 0$ , and the same dilation factor  $\lambda \ge 1$  as in the Poincaré inequality. Note that the left-hand side is comparable to  $\int_B |\chi_E - (\chi_E)_B| d\mu$ .

The relative isoperimetric inequality is, in fact, equivalent with the (1,1)-Poincaré inequality. As noted above, the Poincaré inequality implies the relative isoperimetric inequality, so let us consider the converse. According to the characterizations of Poincaré inequalities given in [44, Theorem 2], it is enough to consider a Lipschitz function u with compact

support on X. Denote the super-level sets of u by  $E_t := \{u > t\}, t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and let B = B(x, r) be a ball. Then we estimate, using the coarea formula for BV functions,

$$\begin{split} r \int_{\lambda B} g_u \, d\mu &\geq r \|Du\|(\lambda B) = r \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|D\chi_{E_t}\|(\lambda B) \, dt \\ &\geq c_I^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \min\{\mu(B \cap E_t), \mu(B \setminus E_t)\} \, dt \\ &\geq 2^{-1} c_I^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_B |\chi_{E_t} - (\chi_{E_t})_B| \, d\mu \, dt. \end{split}$$

Applying simple computations on the last line, we are able to recover the quantity  $|u - u_B|$  by integrating the characteristic functions  $\chi_{E_t}$  with respect to t. In these computations, the assumption that u is a Lipschitz function is helpful. Thus we obtain the (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality.

In Publication II, we examine equivalence between the Poincaré inequality, the relative isoperimetric inequality, and various *strong relative isoperimetric inequalities*. The latter are similar to the relative isoperimetric inequality, but on the right-hand side the perimeter is replaced by the codimension one Minkowski content or Hausdorff measure of either the topological boundary or the measure theoretic boundary of the set E. For example, the inequality can read

$$\min\{\mu(B \cap E), \mu(B \setminus E)\} \le c_S r \mu^+(\lambda B \cap \partial E)$$
(3.2)

or

$$\min\{\mu(B \cap E), \mu(B \setminus E)\} \le c_S r \mathcal{H}(\lambda B \cap \partial E), \tag{3.3}$$

for any  $\mu$ -measurable set E, any ball B = B(x, r), and constants  $c_S > 0$ and  $\lambda \ge 1$ . Here the codimension one Minkowski content  $\mu^+$  is defined as

$$\mu^+(A) := \liminf_{h \to 0} \frac{\mu\left(\bigcup_{x \in A} B(x,h)\right)}{2h} \quad \text{for } A \subset X,$$

whereas the codimension one Hausdorff measure is given by the limit

$$\mathcal{H}(A) := \lim_{R \to 0} \mathcal{H}_R(A),$$

where the restricted Hausdorff content  $\mathcal{H}_R$  is defined as

$$\mathcal{H}_R(A) := \inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(B(x_i, r_i))}{r_i} : A \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} B(x_i, r_i), r_i \le R\right\}.$$

Strong relative isoperimetric inequalities have been previously defined in the metric setting in [17] and [48]. In particular, in [48] a suitable strong relative isoperimetric inequality was assumed to hold, and the inequality was then used to prove sufficient conditions for finite perimeter and finite variation. Motivated by this, we wish to examine whether such an inequality can be derived from a (q, p)-Poincaré inequality.

The above understood, we choose to limit ourselves to the case p = 1, which is the relevant case in the study of BV functions, and in which geometric quantities such as Hausdorff measures and Minkowski contents naturally arise. The case p > 1 has been studied in [59] and [46], where

equivalence between the (1, p)-Poincaré inequality and various *isocapacitary inequalities* was investigated, by use of coarea formulas and other methods similar to ours. On the other hand, in Publication II the parameter q of the (q, p)-Poincaré inequality is allowed to take any value in the interval  $[1, \infty)$ , but here we restrict our presentation to the case q = 1 for simplicity.

In the Euclidean setting, the equivalence between isoperimetric inequalities and Poincaré or Sobolev inequalities has been studied in e.g. [58] and [59] by Maz'ya, whereas certain aspects of the general metric case have been studied in [17]. Usually the same basic components are included in the proof establishing the implication between any of these inequalities. If we want to prove a Poincaré inequality starting from a strong relative isoperimetric inequality, we can use the strategy described earlier in this section. However, the type of coarea formula required depends on the type of strong relative isoperimetric inequality at our disposal. For example, in Publication II we prove and make use of a coarea inequality of the form

$$\int_{B} \operatorname{Lip} u \, d\mu \ge \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mu^{+} (B \cap \partial \{u > t\}) \, dt,$$

where  $u \in \text{Lip}(X)$  and Lip u is a local Lipschitz constant. This type of inequality is originally from [17, Lemma 3.1], and it is tailor-made for use with the strong relative isoperimetric inequality (3.2).

In Publication II we prove the somewhat unexpected result that inequalities (3.2) and (3.3) as well as the (1,1)-Poincaré inequality are quantitatively equivalent, even though it is well-known that the codimension one Minkowski content  $\mu^+$  and Hausdorff measure  $\mathcal{H}$  are not, in general, comparable. Since the Poincaré inequality is a standard assumption in analysis on metric spaces, the most interesting question here is how to get from a Poincaré inequality to a strong relative isoperimetric inequality. In particular, we are interested in the following inequality that is stronger than (3.2) and (3.3), and originally presented in [48]:

$$\min\{\mu(B \cap E), \mu(B \setminus E)\} \le c_S r \mathcal{H}(\lambda B \cap \partial^* E)$$

for any ball B = B(x, r), and constants  $c_S > 0$  and  $\lambda \ge 1$ . Crucially, on the right-hand side we now have, instead of the topological boundary  $\partial E$ , the *measure theoretic boundary*  $\partial^* E$ . This is defined as follows:

$$\partial^*E:=\left\{x\in X:\,\limsup_{r\to 0}\frac{\mu(B(x,r)\cap E)}{\mu(B(x,r))}>0,\quad\limsup_{r\to 0}\frac{\mu(B(x,r)\setminus E)}{\mu(B(x,r))}>0\right\}.$$

In [17, Theorem 1.1] it was shown that a Poincaré inequality implies a strong relative isoperimetric inequality, but the latter was essentially the weaker inequality (3.2). In this case the proof consisted of approximating the characteristic function  $\chi_E$  with Lipschitz functions to which the Poincaré inequality could be applied.

When proving an inequality with the Hausdorff measure on the righthand side, we can use the same type of approach, but the details are quite different, since we need to approximate the function  $\chi_E$  with Newtonian functions instead of Lipschitz functions. We use a method first presented in [14], where a function with a prescribed upper gradient is constructed. Fix a  $\mu$ -measurable set E and a ball B = B(x, r), and let  $\lambda$  be the dilation factor from the (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality that we assume to hold. Assuming that  $\mathcal{H}(\lambda \overline{B} \cap \partial E) < \infty$ , for  $\delta > 0$  we pick a cover of  $\lambda \overline{B} \cap \partial E$  with balls  $\{B_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $r_i < \delta$  and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(B_i)}{r_i} < \mathcal{H}(\lambda \overline{B} \cap \partial E) + \delta.$$

Define the Borel function

$$g := \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\chi_{2B_i}}{r_i} + \infty \chi_{X \setminus \lambda \overline{B}}.$$

Then define

$$u(x) := \min\left\{1, \inf_{\gamma} \int_{\gamma} g \, ds\right\},$$

where the infimum is taken over curves connecting x to  $(B \setminus E) \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} 2B_i$ . Now g is, essentially by definition, an upper gradient of u, and its  $L^1$ -norm in the ball  $\lambda B$  is at most  $c_d(\mathcal{H}(\lambda \overline{B} \cap \partial E) + \delta)$ . It is straightforward to check that the function u converges to  $\chi_E$  in  $L^1(B)$  as  $\delta \to 0$ . By applying the (1,1)-Poincaré inequality to the functions u and g, we get the result.

The remaining problem is that we have worked with the whole boundary  $\partial E$  instead of the measure theoretic boundary  $\partial^* E$ . By a little further analysis, as presented in Publication II, we can conclude that we could carry out the above proof with the measure theoretic boundary, if we could show that 1-almost every curve that travels from the measure theoretic interior I of the set E to the measure theoretic exterior O must intersect the measure theoretic boundary. The sets I and O are defined as

$$I:=\left\{x\in X:\, \lim_{r\to 0}\frac{\mu(B(x,r)\setminus E)}{\mu(B(x,r))}=0\right\}$$

and

$$O := \left\{ x \in X : \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap E)}{\mu(B(x,r))} = 0 \right\}$$

In the Euclidean setting, when proving the Federer-type characterization of sets of finite perimeter, establishing this type of result for curves is the crux of the proof, see [23, Section 4.5] or [22, p. 222]. However, in the Euclidean case it is enough to consider lines parallel to coordinate axes. In the general metric setting, the good uniformity properties of parallel lines are not available. To compensate for this, in Publication II we define an *extended measure theoretic boundary* as follows:

$$\partial_1^*E:=\left\{x\in X:\,\limsup_{r\to 0}\frac{\mu(B(x,r)\cap E)}{\mu(B(x,r))r}>0,\quad\limsup_{r\to 0}\frac{\mu(B(x,r)\setminus E)}{\mu(B(x,r))r}>0\right\}.$$

Due to the additional factor r in the denominator, this is clearly a bigger set than the (ordinary) measure theoretic boundary. Now we are able to show that 1-almost every curve travelling from the measure theoretic interior of E to the measure theoretic exterior intersects the extended measure theoretic boundary. By this and the above discussion, we are able to establish a slightly weakened version of the desired strong relative isoperimetric inequality, as follows:

$$\min\{\mu(B \cap E), \mu(B \setminus E)\} \le c_S r \mathcal{H}(\lambda B \cap \partial_1^* E).$$

In the following two sections, we discuss how this and the other relative isoperimetric inequalities can be used to analyze BV functions.

Coarea formulas and relative isoperimetric inequalities

### 4. Discrete convolutions

In analysis on metric spaces, an essential tool that is also used in proving many of the results of this thesis is the *discrete convolution*. In classical analysis on Euclidean spaces, one can approximate a function by a convolution, which for two functions u and  $\phi$  is given by

$$\phi * u(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(y) u(x-y) \, dy, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Similarly, one can compute the convolution of a measure  $\nu$  and a function  $\phi$ . Often the function  $\phi$  is taken to be a *mollifier*  $\phi_{\delta}$ . This means that  $\phi_{\delta}$ , with  $\delta > 0$ , is a smooth function with compact support in  $\overline{B}(0, \delta)$ , and  $\|\phi_{\delta}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ . The convolutions  $\phi_{\delta} * u$  of a function  $u \in BV(\mathbb{R}^n)$  have very nice properties: they are smooth functions that converge in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to u as  $\delta \to 0$ , and their gradients can be computed simply by mollifying the variation measure, i.e.  $\nabla(\phi_{\delta} * u) = \phi_{\delta} * Du$ . Note that in the Euclidean setting, the variation measure is vector-valued — see also Section 5.

In the general metric setting we do not have such results. However, a good substitute for convolutions are so-called discrete convolutions. To define them, we first need suitable coverings of the space, or of an open set. For the whole space, we can take balls with uniform radii, but for an open set, we need to construct a *Whitney covering*. Such coverings were already employed in [21] and [55], but for recent, careful constructions, see [15, Theorem 3.1] or [13, Theorem 3.22]. Before describing the covering, let us point out that Whitney coverings can be used to prove several important results in analysis on metric spaces, for example Gehring's lemma [54] and various extension results, see Section 8. Extension of functions by means of Whitney coverings is also used in proving a very important self-improving property of the Poincaré inequality, see [45].

Given an open set  $\Omega \subset X$  and numbers  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\tau \geq 1$ , one can construct a Whitney covering  $\{B_j^i = B(x_j^i, r_j^i)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  with the following properties. The balls  $B_j^i$ ,  $j = 1, 2, \ldots$  cover  $\Omega$ , the radii satisfy  $r_j^i \leq 1/i$ , and the dilated balls  $\tau B_j^i$  are contained in  $\Omega$ . Moreover, if  $\tau B_j^i$  meets  $\tau B_k^i$ , then  $r_j^i \leq 2r_k^i$ , and each dilated ball  $\tau B_k^i$  meets at most C balls  $\tau B_j^i$ , where the constant C only depends on the doubling constant and  $\tau$ . Typically one takes  $\tau$  to be a multiple of the dilation factor  $\lambda$  of the Poincaré inequality, say  $\tau = 5\lambda$ , and we assume this in the following.

Next, we construct a *partition of unity* subordinate to the Whitney covering. As shown in e.g. [15, Theorem 3.4], for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  we can build

Discrete convolutions

 $C/r_j^i$ -Lipschitz functions  $\varphi_j^i$ , j = 1, 2, ..., such that each of these is supported in  $2B_j^i$ , and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\varphi_j^i=1 \quad \text{on } \Omega.$$

The discrete convolutions of a locally integrable function u are then defined as

$$u_i := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_{B_j^i} \varphi_j^i, \quad i \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The discrete convolutions of a function  $u \in BV(\Omega)$  have many good properties similar to the classical Euclidean case: they are locally Lipschitz functions that converge to u in  $L^1(\Omega)$  as  $i \to \infty$ . Moreover, if the space supports a (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality, every  $u_i$  has an upper gradient

$$g_i := C \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \chi_{B_j^i} \frac{\|Du\|(5\lambda B_j^i)}{\mu(B_j^i)},$$
(4.1)

where the constant C only depends on the doubling constant and the constants in the Poincaré inequality [39, Lemma 5.3]. By the properties of Whitney coverings, for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  we now have

$$\int_{\Omega} g_i \, d\mu \le C \|Du\|(\Omega).$$

In some ways the properties of discrete convolutions are, comparatively, even unexpectedly good: in [1] and [38] it is noted that maximal functions on metric spaces have better regularity properties when defined by means of discrete convolutions than by the usual definition of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function.

On the other hand, for BV functions there is also another method of approximation by Lipschitz functions, presented in [19, Lemma 6.2.1]. Based on the definition of the total variation, this method gives a sequence of functions  $u_i \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\operatorname{loc}}(\Omega)$  with  $u_i \to u$  in  $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(\Omega)$ ,  $g_{u_i} d\mu \stackrel{*}{\to} d\|Du\|$  in  $\Omega$  (weak\* convergence of measures), and

$$\int_{\Omega} g_{u_i} \, d\mu \to \|Du\|(\Omega),\tag{4.2}$$

as  $i \to \infty$ . Due to the last property, we refer to this method as approximation by a *minimizing sequence*. Indeed, the advantage of this method is that the sequence "yields" the precise value of the total variation  $||Du||(\Omega)$ , with no constant C > 1 involved. Nevertheless, the abundant use of discrete convolutions in the study of BV functions in recent literature attests to the many advantages of the method compared to the minimizing sequence method. Let us discuss these.

First, discrete convolutions can be used to show that BV functions can be characterized by a Poincaré-type inequality of the form

$$\int_{B} |u - u_B| \, d\mu \le cr\nu(\tau B) \tag{4.3}$$

for any ball B = B(x, r), where  $\nu$  is a Radon measure of finite mass and c > 0,  $\tau \ge 1$  are constants. Moreover, we get  $||Du|| \le C\nu$ , with  $C = C(c, \tau, c_d)$ . This was first proved in [60, Theorem 3.8] by Miranda, and the idea is to approximate a function  $u \in L^1(X)$  with discrete convolutions, estimate the upper gradients as in (4.1), and then use a lower semicontinuity property — or simply the definition — of the total variation. Since the relative isoperimetric inequalities discussed in the previous section are inequalities of the type (4.3), with  $u = \chi_E$ , the finiteness of e.g. the quantity  $\mathcal{H}(\partial E)$  implies that E is of finite perimeter. This type of reasoning was employed in [48, Theorem 4.6].

In Publication III, discrete convolutions are used in establishing an inequality involving a sequence of locally Lipschitz functions  $u_i$  approximating a BV function u in the  $L^1$ -norm. More precisely, the inequality is of the following form:

$$\limsup_{i \to \infty} \int_B R_{x,y} g_i \, d\mu \le C \int_{2B} R_{x,y} \, d\|Du\|,$$

where C > 0, each  $g_i$  is an upper gradient of  $u_i$ ,  $R_{x,y}$  is the sum of two Riesz kernels centered at points x and y, and B is a ball containing xand y. A possible method of proving this inequality would be to take a minimizing sequence  $u_i$  as described above, since then we would have the weak\* convergence  $g_i d\mu \stackrel{*}{\longrightarrow} d \|Du\|$ . However, it is not clear how to use this weak\* convergence in connection with the discontinuous function  $R_{x,y}$ . By contrast, it turns out that when approximating u by discrete convolutions, the singularities of the Riesz kernels do not cause trouble, and we get the above inequality for  $\mu$ -almost every x, y. As is usual with discrete convolutions, a constant C appears on the right-hand side.

In Publication IV we find that discrete convolutions have another useful property. When  $u \in BV(\Omega)$  and the variation measure is absolutely continuous with respect to the measure  $\mu$ , i.e.  $d\|Du\| = a d\mu$  with  $a \in L^1(\Omega)$ , it turns out that the sequence of upper gradients  $g_i$  of the discrete convolutions  $u_i$  is *equiintegrable*. The equiintegrability of a sequence of functions  $g_i \in L^1(\Omega)$  is defined by two conditions. First, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a  $\mu$ -measurable set  $A \subset \Omega$  with  $\mu(A) < \infty$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega\setminus A} g_i \, d\mu < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } i \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Second, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there is  $\delta > 0$  such that if  $\widetilde{A} \subset \Omega$  is  $\mu$ -measurable with  $\mu(\widetilde{A}) < \delta$ , then

$$\int_{\widetilde{A}} g_i \, d\mu < \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } i \in \mathbb{N}.$$

By the Dunford-Pettis theorem, see e.g. [7, Theorem 1.38], from any sequence of functions  $g_i \in L^1(\Omega)$  that is equiintegrable, one can pick a subsequence that converges weakly in  $L^1(\Omega)$ . Then by Mazur's lemma (see e.g. [62, Theorem 3.12] or [42]), one can pick convex combinations of  $g_i$  that converge strongly in  $L^1(\Omega)$ . This type of reasoning has been previously applied in [24] to prove a certain self-improving property of Poincaré inequalities. In Publication IV we generalize the method somewhat: instead of assuming that ||Du|| is absolutely continuous in the entire open set  $\Omega$ , we show that in the set where it *is* absolutely continuous, the upper gradients of suitably constructed discrete convolutions are equiintegrable. In Sections 5 and 7 we will describe how this equiintegrability property is used in this thesis.

In [50, Proposition 4.1] it is also shown that one can estimate the pointwise convergence of a sequence of discrete convolutions of a BV function outside a set of  $\mathcal{H}$ -measure zero instead of just a set of  $\mu$ -measure zero. In proving a Leibniz rule for BV functions, both approximation methods are used in [50, Proposition 4.2]: one for each function in the product. Yet even here, the minimizing sequence approximation does not seem to have any real advantage, since discrete convolutions have, up to a constant C, also both the minimizing property (4.2) and the weak\* convergence property, and the result in [50, Proposition 4.2] is also an inequality involving a constant.

Nevertheless, it is interesting to note that the two methods cannot be merged into one. Namely, the construction presented in Example 4.8 of Publication IV shows that on a metric space it is, in general, impossible to obtain equiintegrability for the upper gradients of a minimizing approximating sequence of a BV function with an absolutely continuous variation measure. This implies, by the Dunford-Pettis theorem, that while the sequence of measures  $g_i d\mu$  weakly\* converges to the variation measure  $a d\mu$ , no subsequence of the upper gradients  $g_i$  converges weakly in  $L^1$ . Notably, the space in our example is just an interval of the real line with the Euclidean distance and a Lebesgue measure weighted by a function that takes values between 1 and 2. By contrast, in the classical Euclidean setting, all the good approximating properties that have been discussed are possible to achieve simultaneously, since the gradients of convolutions even converge in  $L^1$  to the weak gradient of u, when the latter is absolutely continuous.

### 5. Characterizations of BV functions

A central theme in this thesis are the various characterizations of BV functions on metric spaces. In the Euclidean setting there are two standard ways to define BV functions. Let  $\Omega$  be an open set. According to the first definition, a function  $u \in L^1(\Omega)$  is in the class  $BV(\Omega)$  if the total variation

$$\|Du\|(\Omega) := \sup\left\{\int_{\Omega} u\operatorname{div}\phi\,dx:\,\phi\in C^1_c(\Omega;\mathbb{R}^n),\,|\phi|\leq 1\right\}$$

is finite. An equivalent definition states that a function  $u \in L^1(\Omega)$  is in the class  $BV(\Omega)$  if there exist signed Radon measures of finite mass  $\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_n$ , such that

$$\int_{\Omega} u \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x_i} \, dx = -\int_{\Omega} \phi \, d\nu_i \quad \text{for all } \phi \in C_c^1(\Omega), \ i = 1, \dots, n,$$

that is, the weak gradient  $Du = \nu$  of u is an  $\mathbb{R}^n$ -valued measure with finite mass  $||Du||(\Omega)$ . It is then usually proved as a theorem that u can be approximated by smooth functions, see e.g. [7, Theorem 3.9]. This fact is essentially taken as the definition of BV functions on metric spaces, where directional derivatives are not available — see the definition given in Section 2.

A very important characterization of BV functions on metric spaces, from which several other characterizations can be derived, is that a Poincaré-type inequality of the form (4.3) characterizes the class BV. Note that in order to ensure that BV functions satisfy such as inequality, we need to assume that the space supports a (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality. In [39] the authors present a more general formulation of this characterization, defining spaces of functions  $u \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  for which

$$\|u\|_{A^{1,p}_{\tau,0}(\Omega)} := \lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{B}_{\tau,r}} \left\| \sum_{B \in \mathcal{B}} \left( r_B^{-1} f_B \left| u - u_B \right| d\mu \right) \chi_B \right\|_{L^p(\Omega)}$$

is finite for some  $\tau \geq 1$ ; here  $\mathcal{B}_{\tau,r}$  consists of all collections of balls B with radius  $r_B \leq r$  such that the balls  $\tau B$  are disjoint and contained in  $\Omega$ . The authors show that for a function  $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ , the condition  $||u||_{A^{1,1}_{\tau,0}(\Omega)} < \infty$ implies  $u \in BV(\Omega)$ , whereas when p > 1 and  $u \in L^p(\Omega)$ ,  $||u||_{A^{1,p}_{\tau,0}(\Omega)} < \infty$ implies that  $u \in N^{1,p}(\Omega)$ . This is another demonstration of the fact that the class BV is sometimes a natural limit of the spaces  $N^{1,p}(\Omega)$  as  $p \to$  1<sup>+</sup>. In Publication IV we show that if the space supports a (1,1)-Poincaré inequality, then the class  $N^{1,1}(\Omega)$  is, in turn, characterized by the Poincaré inequality

$$\int_{B} |u - u_B| \, d\mu \le Cr \int_{\lambda B} a \, d\mu$$

for every ball  $B = B(x,r) \subset \lambda B \subset \Omega$  and a given  $a \in L^1(\Omega)$ . This can again be proved by using discrete convolutions and equiintegrability of the upper gradients. On the other hand, BV functions whose variation measures are absolutely continuous are precisely functions that satisfy a Poincaré inequality of the above type. Thus we can identify this class with  $N^{1,1}(\Omega)$ , and in fact we prove in Publication IV the following, somewhat stronger result. Given  $u \in BV(\Omega)$  and any  $\mu$ -measurable set  $F \subset \Omega$  where  $\|Du\|$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mu$ , we have  $u|_F \in N^{1,1}(F)$ for some  $\mu$ -representative of u.

All in all, there are very close connections between BV functions and Newtonian functions, and sometimes BV functions can even be utilized in the study of Newtonian functions. In the main result of [48], the goal is to show that a particular function is in the space  $N^{1,p}(X)$ , and the strategy is to first show that the function is in the space BV(X), and then to check that the singular part of the variation measure is zero.

On the other hand, Hajłasz has demonstrated in [28] and [30, Theorem 8.7] how to get from *pointwise* inequalities of the type  $|u(x) - u(y)| \le d(x, y)(g(x) + g(y))$  to Poincaré-type inequalities. For example, the pointwise inequality

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le Cd(x, y) \left( (\mathcal{M}_{\sigma d(x, y)} g^p(x))^{1/p} + (\mathcal{M}_{\sigma d(x, y)} g^p(y))^{1/p} \right)$$

for  $\mu$ -almost every  $x, y \in X$ , with  $\sigma > 0$ , implies a (1, p)-Poincaré inequality for the pair u, g, for any  $1 \le p < \infty$ , see [30, Theorem 9.5]. Here  $\mathcal{M}_{\sigma d(x,y)}$ denotes the restricted Hardy-Littlewood maximal function. In Publication I we show that BV functions can be characterized by a similar inequality

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le Cd(x,y) \left( \mathcal{M}_{\sigma d(x,y)} \nu(x) + \mathcal{M}_{\sigma d(x,y)} \nu(y) \right),$$

where  $\nu$  is a Radon measure of finite mass. In the proof, we show that the above inequality implies a Poincaré-type inequality for the pair u,  $\nu$ , and then apply the characterization of BV functions by Poincaré-type inequalities. Moreover, in Publication III we present a slightly different formulation and proof of this pointwise characterization of BV, relying more directly on the results of Hajłasz. Conversely, if the space supports a Poincaré inequality, pointwise inequalities of the above types can easily be proved for BV and Newtonian functions by a telescoping argument.

Thus far we have discussed characterizations of general BV functions. On the other hand, for sets of finite perimeter one has, at least in the Euclidean case, the very important Federer-type characterization that states that a set E is of finite perimeter if and only if  $\mathcal{H}(\partial^* E) < \infty$ . This was first proved by Federer in [23, Section 4.5], and a simplified version of the proof can be found in [22, p. 222]. The Federer-type characterization is quite surprising in the sense that it brings together, on the one hand the concept of the perimeter measure, which is a variational concept defined through

a relaxation procedure and readily useful in the calculus of variations, and on the other hand the codimension one Hausdorff measure which is a purely measure theoretic object. In fact, the perimeter measure and the codimension one Hausdorff measure restricted to the measure theoretic boundary are equal in the Euclidean case, and in the general metric setting, Ambrosio et al. have shown them to be comparable *if* the set is of finite perimeter, see [4, Theorem 5.3] and [9, Theorem 4.6].

To prove the other direction of the Federer-type characterization in the metric setting, namely that  $\mathcal{H}(\partial^* E) < \infty$  implies that E is of finite perimeter, we could again use Miranda's characterization of BV functions by means of Poincaré-type inequalities. This is due to the fact that the relative isoperimetric inequalities discussed in Section 3 are Poincaré-type inequalities written for the characteristic functions of sets. Precisely speaking, we would need the strong relative isoperimetric inequality with the quantity  $\mathcal{H}(\lambda B \cap \partial^* E)$  on the right-hand side.

As explained in Section 3, we attempt to derive this type of inequality from the (1,1)-Poincaré inequality in Publication II — however, we are only able to establish the weaker inequality with the measure theoretic boundary  $\partial^* E$  replaced by the extended measure theoretic boundary  $\partial^*_1 E$ . Nevertheless, this does give the following sufficient condition: if  $\mathcal{H}(\partial^*_1 E) < \infty$ , then E is of finite perimeter. The BV coarea formula then provides a simple sufficient condition for general BV functions:  $u \in L^1(X)$  is a BV function if

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}(\partial_1^* \{u > t\}) \, dt < \infty.$$

Characterizations of BV functions

### 6. Semmes family of curves

Since the Poincaré inequality enables any locally integrable function to be controlled by its upper gradient, and upper gradients are defined by means of curves, any space that supports a Poincaré inequality must in some sense contain an abundance of curves. Precise expressions of this fact can be found e.g. in [51, Lemma 3.2], [44, Theorem 2], and [41, Theorem 5.7]. In [44, Theorem 2] a converse is also established — if the space contains "enough curves", it supports a Poincaré inequality.

In Publication III we make the somewhat stronger assumption that there is a *geometric Semmes family of curves* between any pair of points in the space. Curve families of this type were first defined and constructed by Semmes in [64] with the motivation of proving a Poincaré inequality on certain topological manifolds. At first, we define the (ordinary) Semmes family of curves as follows: for any  $x, y \in X$  there is a family of curves  $\Gamma_{x,y}$ joining x and y and a probability measure  $\alpha_{x,y}$  such that for any Borel set  $A \subset X$ ,

$$\int_{\Gamma_{x,y}} \ell(\gamma \cap A) \, d\alpha_{x,y}(\gamma) \le c_S \int_{A \cap B_{xy}} R_{x,y}(z) \, d\mu(z),$$

with  $c_S > 0$ . Here  $\ell(\gamma \cap A)$  is the length of the curve  $\gamma$  in the set A. Moreover,  $R_{x,y}$  is the sum of two Riesz kernels, centered at x and y, and  $B_{xy} := B(x, \tau d(x, y))$ , with  $\tau > 1$ . The above condition implies, at minimum, that there must be many curves in the family  $\Gamma_{x,y}$  — for if there were, say, just a finite number of curves in  $\Gamma_{x,y}$  and the set A was taken to be the union of their images, then the right-hand side would in most cases be zero, but the left-hand side would not. We also note in Publication III that the above condition implies that the space supports a (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality. In defining the *geometric* Semmes family of curves, we then assume some additional uniformity properties of the curves in  $\Gamma_{x,y}$ .

The main result of Publication III is that if a metric space supports a geometric Semmes family of curves, then the Federer-type characterization for sets of finite perimeter, which was discussed at the end of the previous section, holds. The proof combines many of the ideas and characterizations of BV functions introduced so far, as explained in the following.

First we consider one more characterization of BV functions, expressed by means of curves on the space. The idea is to investigate, for a function  $u \in L^1(X)$ , whether the functions  $u \circ \gamma$  are in the class  $BV((0, \ell_{\gamma}))$  for curves  $\gamma$ . Here  $\ell_{\gamma}$  is the length of  $\gamma$  — recall that we assume all curves to be parametrized by arc-length. We prove that a bounded function  $u \in L^1(X)$  is in BV(X) if and only if

$$\int_{\Gamma_{x,y}} \|D(u \circ \gamma)\|((0,\ell_{\gamma})) \, d\alpha_{x,y}(\gamma) \le C_0 \int_{B(x,\kappa d(x,y))} R_{x,y} \, d\nu \tag{6.1}$$

for some constants  $C_0, \kappa > 0$ , a Radon measure of finite mass  $\nu$ , and  $\mu$ almost every  $x, y \in X$ . In particular,  $u \circ \gamma \in BV((0, \ell_{\gamma}))$  for  $\alpha_{x,y}$ -almost every curve  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{x,y}$ . The proof of the sufficiency of this so-called Reshetnyaktype characterization is based on two facts: first, we can establish the following weak continuity at the end points:  $|u(x) - u(y)| \leq ||D(u \circ \gamma)||((0, \ell_{\gamma}))$ for almost every curve  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{x,y}$ . Second, the integral of the Riesz kernel  $R_{x,y}$  on the right-hand side of (6.1) can easily be estimated by the maximal function of the measure  $\nu$ , as noted already in [37]. Then we can use the pointwise characterization of BV functions that was discussed earlier — recall that this was, in turn, based on Miranda's characterization by Poincaré-type inequalities. A characterization of BV functions in terms of curves is well-known in the Euclidean case — where it is usually formulated for lines — and it is an analogue of the ACL or ACC property (absolute continuity on almost every line or curve) of Sobolev or Newtonian functions.

Now, to obtain the Federer-type characterization, let us briefly discuss how to establish (6.1) for  $u = \chi_E$  and  $\nu = \mathcal{H}|_{\partial^* E}$ , with  $\mathcal{H}(\partial^* E)$  finite. Using geometric arguments and the properties of the Semmes family of curves, we can first show that for  $\mu$ -almost every  $x, y \in X$ , we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_{x,y}} \#(\gamma \cap \partial^* E) \, d\alpha_{x,y}(\gamma) \le C \int_{3B_{xy}} R_{x,y} \, d\mathcal{H}^h|_{\partial^* E}$$

Thus we see that in order to get (6.1), we simply need to show that

$$||D(\chi_E \circ \gamma)||((0, \ell_{\gamma})) \le \#(\gamma \cap \partial^* E)$$

for almost every curve  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{x,y}$ . Since we can pick any  $\mu$ -representative of E, we can assume that E = I, that is, the measure theoretic interior of E. In one dimension, the total variation of a function can of course be controlled by its pointwise variation, so again we encounter the problem of showing that almost every curve or subcurve that travels from the measure theoretic interior of E to the measure theoretic exterior must pass through the measure theoretic boundary. This is proved by using the good uniformity properties of the geometric Semmes family of curves. In fact, curves in this family behave much like parallel lines on a Euclidean space: the curve bundle is "equally thick" everywhere, and the curves travel in the "same direction" and at a uniform "speed". This enables us to mimic the proof presented in [22], as explained in the following.

The idea is to define subfamilies of  $\Gamma_{x,y}$  in which curves "jump" from the measure theoretic interior to the measure theoretic exterior, or vice versa, avoiding the measure theoretic boundary. In order to show that these curve families have  $\alpha_{x,y}$ -measure zero, we first show that the measure  $\alpha_{x,y}$  is locally doubling with respect to a suitable metric on the space of curves  $\Gamma_{x,y}$ . This ensures that the Lebesgue differentiation theorem holds

on the space  $\Gamma_{x,y}$ . On the other hand, using the fact that the curves behave much like Euclidean lines, we are able to show that the density of the curves that "jump" is everywhere strictly less than one. By the Lebesgue differentiation theorem, the  $\alpha_{x,y}$ -measure of these curve families must then be zero.

The obvious example of a space supporting a geometric Semmes family of curves is a Euclidean space. As a more interesting example, we discuss Fred Gehring's bow-tie, which is defined as  $X = X_+ \cup X_-$ , with

$$X_{+} := \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : 0 \le z_{n} \le 1, |z_{j}| \le z_{n}, j = 1, \dots, n-1 \}, X_{-} := \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : -1 \le z_{n} \le 0, |z_{j}| \le |z_{n}|, j = 1, \dots, n-1 \}.$$

We equip this space with the metric inherited from  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and a Lebesgue measure weighted by  $\omega(z) := |z|^{\alpha}$ , with  $\alpha > -n$ . It turns out that this space supports a geometric Semmes family of curves precisely when  $\alpha = 1 - n$ . It is interesting to note that the space supports a (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality precisely when  $\alpha \leq 1 - n$  [13, Example A.24], demonstrating again the connection between the two concepts. In Publication III we also construct a geometric Semmes family in the first Heisenberg group, and note that by numerical calculations, all the conditions appear to be satisfied.

It can also be mentioned that a characterization of BV functions by means of curves, more precisely *all* curves on the space, was recently presented in [6]. Far fewer assumptions on the space were made in this paper, but as a drawback it is unclear how to proceed from the characterization given in this paper to the Federer-type characterization. Semmes family of curves

### 7. Functionals of linear growth

In Publication IV we consider functionals of linear growth, which are a generalization of the total variation functional that is used to define BV functions. First we let  $f : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  be a nondecreasing convex function that satisfies the linear growth condition

$$mt \le f(t) \le M(1+t)$$

for all  $t \ge 0$ , with some constants  $0 < m \le M < \infty$ . This also implies that f is Lipschitz with constant L > 0. Furthermore, we define

$$f_{\infty} := \sup_{t>0} \frac{f(t) - f(0)}{t} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{f(t) - f(0)}{t} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{f(t)}{t},$$

where the second equality follows from the convexity of f.

A model case that is good to keep in mind is the function  $f(t) = \sqrt{1 + t^2}$ , which appears in the definition of the classical surface area functional

$$C^1(\Omega) \ni u \mapsto \int_\Omega \sqrt{1 + |\nabla u|^2} \, dx$$

Now we give the definition of the functional of linear growth. For an open set  $\Omega$  and  $u \in N^{1,1}(\Omega)$ , one possibility would be to define it as  $u \mapsto \int_{\Omega} f(g_u) d\mu$ , where  $g_u$  is the minimal 1-weak upper gradient of u. However, we wish to define the functional for BV functions as well, so we need to use a relaxation procedure. For  $u \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ , the functional of linear growth is defined by

$$\mathcal{F}(u,\Omega) := \inf \left\{ \liminf_{i \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f(g_{u_i}) \, d\mu : \, u_i \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\operatorname{loc}}(\Omega), \, u_i \to u \text{ in } L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(\Omega) \right\},$$

where  $g_{u_i}$  is the minimal 1-weak upper gradient of  $u_i$ . In the case f(t) = t, the functional  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$  is just the total variation  $||Du||(\cdot)$ . Due to the linear growth conditions on f, we always have

$$m \|Du\|(\Omega) \le \mathcal{F}(u,\Omega) \le M(\mu(\Omega) + \|Du\|(\Omega))$$

Functionals of the type described above were introduced in the Euclidean setting in [5] — see also the discussion therein on results related to an earlier definition of  $\mathcal{F}$  without the use of relaxation, which is suitable for Sobolev functions but not BV functions. A more thorough classical treatment of these functionals is given in [7], and other sources include

[26] and [11]. We point out that in the Euclidean case, gradients as well as the variation measure Du are vector-valued, and in the first two sources mentioned above, the function u under consideration is also taken to be vector-valued. Moreover, in the Euclidean case the function f is assumed to be *quasiconvex* instead of convex, but this property reduces to convexity in the scalar case, see [7, Proposition 5.41].

By contrast, in Publication IV, where we work in the general metric setting, we assume  $u \in BV(\Omega)$  to be scalar-valued, as is done in most recent theory of BV functions on metric spaces. Then the variation measure is merely the scalar measure ||Du||. Despite these simplifications, working in the general metric setting produces significant complications compared to the Euclidean case, and these appear already in the weighted Euclidean setting. We will discuss these issues shortly.

The functional  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$  has been previously studied in the metric setting in [34] and [35], where existence and regularity of minimizers of the functional are considered. In Publication IV we focus on the fundamental properties of the functional itself. First we define  $\mathcal{F}(u, A)$  for arbitrary sets A by approximation from outside with open sets. Then we show that  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$  is a Radon measure. This can be done in a similar fashion as in the Euclidean setting, see e.g. [7, Chapter 5.5], or in the case of the total variation  $||Du||(\cdot)$  on metric spaces, see [60].

The main goal of Publication IV is the same as was in [5] in the Euclidean context: to produce an integral representation for  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$ . The motivation for this is that the rather indirect definition of  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$  by means of relaxation makes the functional difficult to work with. Let us assume that  $\mathcal{F}(u,\Omega) < \infty$ , implying also  $\|Du\|(\Omega) < \infty$ . Denote the decomposition of the variation measure  $\|Du\|$  into the absolutely continuous and singular parts with respect to the measure  $\mu$  by  $d\|Du\| = a d\mu + d\|Du\|^s$ , and similarly write  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot) = \mathcal{F}^a(u, \cdot) + \mathcal{F}^s(u, \cdot)$ . Our result states that

$$\mathcal{F}^s(u,\Omega) = f_\infty \|Du\|^s(\Omega)$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} f(a) \, d\mu \leq \mathcal{F}^a(u, \Omega) \leq \int_{\Omega} f(Ca) \, d\mu,$$

where the constant C depends only on the doubling constant and the constants in the Poincaré inequality. Proving the result for the singular part is fairly straightforward. The idea is simply that in the set where u varies "singularly", the weak upper gradients  $g_{u_i}$  of an approximating sequence  $u_i$  must be very large, and then  $f(g_{u_i}) \approx f_{\infty}g_{u_i}$ .

For the absolutely continuous part  $\mathcal{F}^a(u, \cdot)$ , we can restrict our analysis to an open set  $G \subset \Omega$  where the singular parts  $\|Du\|^s$  and  $\mathcal{F}^s(u, \cdot)$  are arbitrarily small. The estimate from below can be proved by taking an approximating sequence of locally Lipschitz functions  $u_i$  that converges to u in  $L^1_{loc}(G)$ , such that  $\int_G f(g_{u_i}) d\mu$  converges to the value of the functional  $\mathcal{F}(u, G)$ . By a standard compactness result, a subsequence of the sequence of measures  $g_{u_i} d\mu$  converges weakly\* to a Radon measure with finite mass  $\nu$ , and furthermore we can show that this measure majorizes the variation measure  $\|Du\|$ . Then we can use an argument which states that by the convexity of f, the functional

$$L^1(G) \ni a \mapsto \int_G f(a) \, d\mu$$
 (7.1)

is lower semicontinuous with respect to the weak<sup>\*</sup> convergence of absolutely continuous measures. This gives us the result, but it is worth making a certain observation on this procedure. Namely, we only needed the weak<sup>\*</sup> convergence of absolutely continuous measures, instead of weak or strong convergence in  $L^1(G)$ . On the other hand, the setting is asymmetric: f is convex but not necessary concave (and thus linear), and hence the functional (7.1) is lower but not upper semicontinuous.

Due to this asymmetry, we cannot use the same methods for the estimate from above for the absolutely continuous part  $\mathcal{F}^a(u, \cdot)$ . Ultimately we obtain an unexpected result: the estimate holds only up to a constant C that depends on the doubling constant and the constants in the Poincaré inequality. By contrast, in the Euclidean case it was possible to gain equality. Furthermore, Example 4.8 in Publication IV shows that the constant C cannot be discarded. In fact, the same example shows that for  $u \in N^{1,1}(\Omega)$  and its minimal 1-weak upper gradient  $g_u$ , it is possible to have

$$\|Du\|(\Omega) < \int_{\Omega} g_u \, d\mu;$$

however, these are also comparable by a constant C. In a sense, this shows that the definition of the total variation — and of the functionals of linear growth — through relaxation on metric spaces is slightly less self-consistent than one might hope for. A question about this consistency was raised in [60] and later in [9]. It is notable that in our counterexample, u is even Lipschitz and the space is geodesic and Ahlfors-regular. In fact, the space is just an interval on the real line, with the Euclidean distance and a weighted Lebesgue measure where the weight takes values between 1 and 2.

Let us discuss the reason for the above complication. In the Euclidean case, the estimate from above for the absolutely continuous part can be proved simply by approximating u by mollifications  $\phi_{\delta} * u$ . As discussed in Section 4, the gradient of  $\phi_{\delta} * u$  is just  $\phi_{\delta} * Du$ , and for the density of the absolutely continuous part of Du, denoted by  $\nabla u$ , we get the (strong)  $L^1$ -convergence  $\phi_{\delta} * \nabla u \rightarrow \nabla u$ . In the metric case we would similarly need this type of  $L^1$ -convergence for the upper gradients of an approximating sequence of u, because the functional (7.1) was only lower semicontinuous with respect to weak\* convergence of measures.

However, from Example 4.8 in Publication IV we know that for a function with an absolutely continuous variation measure ||Du||, there may not be any approximating sequence of locally Lipschitz functions  $u_i$  whose upper gradients converge in  $L^1$  to the density of the variation measure. Essentially the best solution available is to approximate u by discrete convolutions — these have equiintegrable upper gradients, so for a subsequence we get weak convergence in  $L^1$ , and for convex combinations we get strong convergence in  $L^1$  by Mazur's lemma. The drawback is that as always with discrete convolutions, a constant C appears in the result. Functionals of linear growth

In closing, let us mention that it is natural to ask how far the known theory of BV functions and the variation measure could be developed for the more general functionals of linear growth. It turns out that many results hold, at best, up to a constant in this more general case, and the easiest proofs are obtained by combining the corresponding results for the variation measure with the integral representation described above. For example, a coarea formula of the form (3.1) does not hold for the functional  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$ , because if  $f(0) \neq 0$ , the right-hand side is infinity as soon as  $\mu(\Omega) > 0$ . If we assume that f(0) = 0, and use the integral representation for  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$  as well as the coarea formula for the variation measure, we can show that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}(\chi_{\{u>t\}}, \Omega) \, dt = f_{\infty} \|Du\|(\Omega).$$

If the right-hand side is always equal to  $\mathcal{F}(u, \Omega)$ , the functional  $\mathcal{F}$  is just a multiple of the total variation, and f is then necessarily a linear function. Thus the coarea formula holds only in this special case. Nonetheless, when f(0) = 0, it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{F}(u, \cdot)$  is always comparable to the variation measure, with the constants of comparison depending on the constants m and M determining the linear growth of f. Thus we do get the coarea formula and various other results up to a constant.

# 8. Traces and extensions of BV functions

In Publication IV we also consider a minimization problem related to the functionals of linear growth. For this, we need the concept of boundary values of BV functions. Let  $\Omega$  and  $\Omega^*$  be bounded open subsets of X such that  $\Omega \Subset \Omega^*$ , and assume that  $h \in BV(\Omega^*)$ . We define  $BV_h(\Omega)$  as the space of functions  $u \in BV(\Omega^*)$  such that  $u = h \mu$ -almost everywhere in  $\Omega^* \setminus \Omega$ .

Then we can define the minimization problem. A function  $u \in BV_h(\Omega)$ is a minimizer of the functional of linear growth with the boundary values  $h \in BV(\Omega^*)$ , if

$$\mathcal{F}(u, \Omega^*) = \inf \mathcal{F}(v, \Omega^*),$$

where the infimum is taken over all  $v \in BV_h(\Omega)$ . In [34, Theorem 3.6] it was proved that the minimization problem always has a solution. The proof was based on a compactness result for BV functions, demonstrating why it was beneficial to define the functionals of linear growth for this wider class, instead of just  $N^{1,1}(X)$ .

With the help of the integral representation of the functional of linear growth presented in the previous section, we can prove the second major result of Publication IV. Namely, we establish, under certain assumptions on the space and the set  $\Omega$ , equivalence between the above minimization problem and minimization of the functional

$$\mathcal{F}(u,\Omega) + f_{\infty} \int_{\partial\Omega} |T_{\Omega}u - T_{X\setminus\Omega}h| \theta_{\Omega} \, d\mathcal{H}$$
(8.1)

over all  $u \in BV(\Omega)$ . Here  $T_{\Omega}u$  and  $T_{X\setminus\Omega}h$  are boundary traces, and  $\theta_{\Omega}$  is positive function that we will define later. While obeying the boundary values h, a function  $u \in BV_h(\Omega)$  may well "jump" across the boundary  $\partial\Omega$ , but the cost of this is a penalty term where we integrate the magnitude of the "jump" over the boundary  $\partial\Omega$ . In the above formulation, the class of functions over which we minimize is simply  $BV(\Omega)$ , with no reference to the larger set  $\Omega^*$ . This type of formulation is previously known in the Euclidean case [26, p. 584].

The concept of boundary traces of BV functions is also well-known in the Euclidean case, see e.g. [7, Theorem 3.87] or [27, Section 2], but seems not to have been studied in the general metric setting. In this thesis, we present two approaches to constructing boundary traces. In Publication IV, we set out by considering the concept of BV *extension domains*. We say that an open set  $\Omega \subset X$  is a *strong* BV *extension domain* if there is

a constant  $c_{\Omega} > 0$  such that for every  $u \in BV(\Omega)$ , there is an extension  $Eu \in BV(X)$  for which

$$Eu|_{\Omega} = u, \quad \|Eu\|_{\mathrm{BV}(X)} \le c_{\Omega} \|u\|_{\mathrm{BV}(\Omega)}, \quad \text{and} \quad \|D(Eu)\|(\partial\Omega) = 0.$$

Without the last condition, we call  $\Omega$  merely a BV extension domain. The BV norm is simply

$$||u||_{\mathrm{BV}(\Omega)} := ||u||_{L^1(\Omega)} + ||Du||(\Omega).$$

Another concept that we will need is defined as follows: a  $\mu$ -measurable set  $\Omega$  satisfies the *weak measure density condition* if for  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in \partial \Omega$ ,

$$\liminf_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap \Omega)}{\mu(B(x,r))} > 0$$

At this point, let us list some key concepts and facts of BV theory on metric spaces. Ambrosio has shown in [4, Theorem 5.4] that if E is a set of finite perimeter, for  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in \partial^* E$  we have

$$\gamma \le \liminf_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap E)}{\mu(B(x,r))} \le \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap E)}{\mu(B(x,r))} \le 1 - \gamma,$$
(8.2)

where  $\gamma \in (0, 1/2]$  only depends on the doubling constant  $c_d$  and the constants in the Poincaré inequality  $c_P$ ,  $\lambda$ . For a set of finite perimeter  $E \subset X$  and an open set  $\Omega \subset X$ , we know that

$$||D\chi_E||(\Omega) = \int_{\Omega \cap \partial^* E} \theta_E \, d\mathcal{H},$$

where  $\theta_E : X \mapsto [\alpha, c_d]$  with  $\alpha = \alpha(c_d, c_P, \lambda) > 0$ , see [4, Theorem 5.3], [9, Theorem 4.6]. This means that the perimeter measure and the codimension one Hausdorff measure restricted to the measure theoretic boundary are comparable.

The lower and upper approximate limits of a  $\mu$ -measurable function u are defined as

$$u^{\wedge}(x) := \sup\left\{t \in \overline{\mathbb{R}} : \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap \{u < t\})}{\mu(B(x,r))} = 0\right\}$$

and

$$u^{\vee}(x) := \inf \left\{ t \in \overline{\mathbb{R}} : \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap \{u > t\})}{\mu(B(x,r))} = 0 \right\}.$$

The jump set of u is defined as

$$S_u := \{ x \in X : u^{\wedge}(x) < u^{\vee}(x) \}.$$

Outside the jump set, i.e. in  $X \setminus S_u$ ,  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every point is a Lebesgue point of a function  $u \in BV(X)$ , as shown by Kinnunen et al. in [50, Theorem 3.5].

According to [9, Theorem 5.3], the variation measure of a function  $u \in BV(X)$  can be decomposed as

$$d\|Du\| = a \, d\mu + d|D^c u| + \theta_u \, d\mathcal{H}^h|_{S_u},$$

where  $a \in L^1(X)$ ,  $|D^c u|$  is the so-called Cantor part and

$$\theta_u(x) := \int_{u^{\wedge}(x)}^{u^{\vee}(x)} \theta_{\{u>t\}}(x) \, dt$$

Crucially, neither the absolutely continuous part  $a d\mu$  nor the Cantor part "sees" sets of finite H-measure.

Now, if  $\Omega$  is a strong BV extension domain and  $u \in BV(\Omega)$ , the decomposition of the variation measure and the fact that  $||D(Eu)||(\partial\Omega) = 0$ imply that  $\mathcal{H}(\partial\Omega \cap S_{Eu}) = 0$ . In other words, there is negligible intersection between the boundary of  $\Omega$  and the "jump set" of Eu. This means that  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every point of the boundary  $\partial\Omega$  is a Lebesgue point of Eu[50, Theorem 3.5]. If  $\Omega$  furthermore satisfies the weak measure density condition, it is straightforward to conclude that there is a boundary trace  $T_{\Omega}u(x)$  for  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in \partial\Omega$ , satisfying

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \oint_{B(x,r) \cap \Omega} |u - T_{\Omega} u(x)| \, d\mu = 0.$$

Let us introduce one more definition. Based on [9, Definition 6.1], we say that X satisfies the *locality condition* if for any sets of finite perimeter  $E_1$  and  $E_2$ , we have  $\theta_{E_1}(x) = \theta_{E_2}(x)$  for  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in \partial^* E_1 \cap \partial^* E_2$ . Later we give examples of spaces that satisfy this condition. By using the locality condition and by establishing a few results on boundary traces, we are able to obtain formulation (8.1) when  $\Omega$  is a strong BV extension domain and additionally satisfies a few geometric assumptions.

Which domains, then, are (strong) BV extension domains on metric spaces? In the Euclidean case it is a standard result that every bounded domain with a Lipschitz boundary is an extension domain for BV and Sobolev functions, see e.g. [7, Proposition 3.21]. For Sobolev functions, this result was extended in [43] to all so-called ( $\varepsilon, \delta$ )-domains, and in [53] a result is given on BV extension domains in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . By contrast, in the general metric setting the best known result seems to be one found in [12], where it is shown that, roughly speaking, if sets of finite perimeter can be extended from a domain, so can general BV functions. However, a simple geometric characterization or sufficient condition for BV extension domains seems to be missing.

On the other hand, results on the extension of Hajłasz-Sobolev and Newtonian functions on metric spaces have been given in [32] and [16]. On a metric space the concept of a domain with a Lipschitz boundary does not make sense, but a natural generalization is a *uniform domain*. For  $A \ge 1$ , a domain  $\Omega$  is A-uniform if for every  $x, y \in \Omega$  there is a curve  $\gamma$ connecting x and y in  $\Omega$  such that  $\ell_{\gamma} \le Ad(x, y)$  and

$$\operatorname{dist}(\gamma(t), X \setminus \Omega) \ge A^{-1} \min\{t, \ell_{\gamma} - t\}$$

for every  $t \in [0, \ell_{\gamma}]$ , where  $\ell_{\gamma}$  is the length of the curve — recall that we assume all curves to be parametrized by arc-length. Based on results concerning the extension of Newtonian functions, given by Björn and Shanmugalingam in [16], we show in Publication V that any bounded uniform domain is a strong BV extension domain.

It may be mentioned here that Whitney coverings and discrete convolutions, which were discussed in Section 4, are a central tool in the extension of various types of functions u from a set  $\Omega$  (not always open) to the whole space. One example is the classical Whitney's extension theorem for smooth functions, see e.g. [22, p. 245]. Typically the idea is to take a Whitney covering  $\{B(x_j, r_j)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  of the open set  $X \setminus \overline{\Omega}$ , and the corresponding partition of unity  $\{\varphi_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ . For each  $x_j$  we pick a point  $y_j \in \overline{\Omega}$  satisfying  $d(x_j, y_j) = \operatorname{dist}(x_j, \overline{\Omega})$ , and then define

$$Eu(x) := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u(y_j)\varphi_j(x), \qquad x \in X \setminus \overline{\Omega}.$$

Depending on the set  $\Omega$  and the class of functions that we wish to extend, the number  $u(y_j)$  may not be well defined, and then we may replace it with an integral average of u over  $B(y_j, r_j) \cap \Omega$ . In this way, we obtain a "discrete convolution" of u in  $X \setminus \overline{\Omega}$ , but not in the usual sense, since the function u is not defined in this set. Instead, the coefficients for the functions  $\varphi_j$  are obtained by "reflecting" values of u from  $\overline{\Omega}$ . In [16] this method is used to extend Newtonian functions, and in [15] it is used to extend characteristic and Hölder continuous functions. Of course, in the Euclidean case, extensions can be defined by actually reflecting (in the ordinary sense) a function across the boundary of a domain with respect to some coordinate axis, but this would not make sense on a metric space.

The approach to constructing boundary traces of BV functions which is used in Publication IV and which we have discussed so far is based on the fairly strong assumption that  $\Omega$  is a strong BV extension domain. In Publication V we consider a different approach, in which more is assumed of the space X but less of the domain  $\Omega$ . We say that a space X satisfies the *strong locality condition* if for any sets of finite perimeter  $E_1 \subset E_2 \subset X$ and  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in \partial^* E_1 \cap \partial^* E_2$ , we have

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap E_2 \setminus E_1)}{\mu(B(x,r))} = 0.$$
(8.3)

As the name implies, this condition implies the (ordinary) locality condition discussed earlier in this section, by Lemma 4.5 in Publication V and [9, Proposition 6.2]. The strong locality condition is satisfied e.g. in Euclidean spaces, and also in any weighted Euclidean space where the weight is locally bounded and locally bounded away from zero, see Example 4.6 and Example 4.7 in Publication V. In Euclidean spaces, any set of finite perimeter converges, under blow-up, to a half-space at  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every point of the set's measure theoretic boundary. In particular, sets of finite perimeter have density half in these points, guaranteeing the strong locality condition.

In a metric space, the concept of half-spaces does not make sense, but the strong locality condition seems to summarize the crucial information required for results on traces. Moreover, we are able to use condition (8.3) for some sets of finite perimeter even without assuming that the space satisfies the strong locality condition. Indeed, assume that  $A \subset X$  consists of points  $x \in \partial^* E_1 \cap \partial^* E_2$  for which (8.3) fails, i.e. the limit superior is positive. Then we have  $x \in \partial^*(E_2 \setminus E_1)$  for every  $x \in A$ , and we know that  $E_2 \setminus E_1$  is also a set of finite perimeter. By (8.2) we then have

$$\liminf_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap E_2 \setminus E_1)}{\mu(B(x,r))} \ge \gamma > 0$$

for  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in A$ . From this it follows that if we have a sequence of sets of finite perimeter  $E_1 \subset E_2 \subset \ldots \subset X$ , and in a set  $A \subset \partial^* E_1 \cap \partial^* E_2 \cap \ldots$ , with  $\mathcal{H}(A) > 0$ , the condition (8.3) fails for all pairs  $E_{i+1}, E_i, i = 1, 2, \ldots$ , then the number of these sets is at most a constant depending only on the number  $\gamma$ . On the other hand, we know that for any point  $x \in S_u$  in the jump set of a BV function,  $x \in \partial^* \{u > t\}$  for all  $t \in (u^{\wedge}(x), u^{\vee}(x))$ . This follows from the definitions of the lower and upper approximate limits  $u^{\wedge}(x)$  and  $u^{\vee}(x)$ . In Publication V we use this type of deductions to conclude that at  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every point  $x \in S_u$ , there is a number  $t_2 \in (u^{\wedge}(x), u^{\vee}(x))$  such that

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\mu(B(x,r) \cap \{u > t_2\} \setminus \{u > t\})}{\mu(B(x,r))} = 0$$

for all  $t < u^{\vee}(x)$ . Then, by using reasoning similar to that presented in [22, p. 214], we are able to conclude that at  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in S_u$ ,

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \int_{B(x,r) \cap \{u > t_2\}} |u - u^{\vee}(x)|^{Q/(Q-1)} \, d\mu = 0; \tag{8.4}$$

recall that the number Q > 1 was defined in (2.3). An analogous result holds for  $u^{\wedge}(x)$ , with the set  $\{u > t_2\}$  replaced by  $\{u \le t_1\}$ , for some  $t_1 \in (u^{\wedge}(x), u^{\vee}(x))$ . These results describe the behavior of a BV function in its jump set, strengthening [50, Theorem 1.1], where the limit of  $u_{B(x,r)}$ as  $r \to 0$  is studied at points  $x \in S_u$ .

In Publication V we also show that if we then assume that the space satisfies the strong locality condition, we can choose  $t_1 = t_2 = t$  in the above results, and in fact  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  can be chosen freely from the interval  $(u^{\wedge}(x), u^{\vee}(x))$ . This strongly resembles the Euclidean result, according to which the sets  $\{u \leq t\}$  and  $\{u > t\}$  can be replaced by complementary half-spaces, see e.g. [22, p. 213]. Again, the concept of a half-space does not make sense in the metric setting, where the sets  $\{u \leq t\}$  and  $\{u > t\}$  may not even have density 1/2 at x, but these level sets are nonetheless complementary sets, and their lower and upper densities are controlled by (8.2).

Returning to the concept of traces, in Publication V we use the strong locality condition to show the existence of *interior traces* on the measure theoretic boundary of any set of finite perimeter. More precisely, let  $\Omega \subset X$ be a set of finite perimeter, and let  $u \in BV(X)$ . Then for  $\mathcal{H}$ -almost every  $x \in \partial^*\Omega$  there exist interior traces  $\{T_\Omega u(x), T_{X\setminus\Omega} u(x)\} = \{u^{\wedge}(x), u^{\vee}(x)\}$ , which satisfy

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \int_{B(x,r) \cap \Omega} |u - T_{\Omega} u(x)|^{Q/(Q-1)} d\mu = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \int_{B(x,r) \setminus \Omega} |u - T_{X \setminus \Omega} u(x)|^{Q/(Q-1)} \, d\mu = 0.$$

The idea of the proof is the following. If a point  $x \in \partial^*\Omega$  is not in the jump set  $S_u$ , then it is, excluding a  $\mathcal{H}$ -negligible set, a Lebesgue point of u. Then we can define both interior traces simply as the Lebesgue limit of u at x. On the other hand, assume that  $x \in S_u$ . Now the function u makes a "jump" at x from  $u^{\wedge}(x)$  to  $u^{\vee}(x)$ . By the strong locality condition, we know that the level sets  $\{u > t\}$ , for  $t \in (u^{\wedge}(x), u^{\vee}(x))$ , look locally either like the set  $\Omega$  or its complement. Thus, near the point x, the function u is close to  $u^{\vee}(x)$  in  $\Omega$  and close to  $u^{\wedge}(x)$  in  $X \setminus \Omega$ , or vice versa, and by these facts we are eventually able to prove the trace results presented above.

Once we have interior traces, we can prove the existence of boundary traces on the measure theoretic boundary of certain sets of finite perimeter  $\Omega$ . However, here we again need the additional assumption that  $\Omega$  is a BV extension domain. With this assumption, we can simply extend any  $u \in BV(\Omega)$  to  $Eu \in BV(X)$ , and then use the interior trace theorem for the function Eu. In this way we can again ultimately obtain the representation (8.1) for the functional  $\mathcal{F}$ .

In conclusion, the significant advantage of assuming the *strong* locality condition is that interior traces can be defined on the measure theoretic boundary of any set of finite perimeter. This is sometimes useful; for example, when proving the desired formulation (8.1) in Publication IV, we need the existence of the trace  $T_{X\setminus\Omega}h$ , where (in essence)  $h \in BV(X)$ . One approach to ensuring that this trace exists is to assume that  $X \setminus \overline{\Omega}$  is also a strong BV extension domain. However, if the space supports the strong locality condition, it is enough to assume that  $\Omega$  is a set of finite perimeter with  $\mathcal{H}(\partial\Omega \setminus \partial^*\Omega) = 0$ . Moreover, the elegant description of the behavior of a BV function in its jump set, as given in (8.4), is essentially also an interior trace result.

### Bibliography

- D. Aalto and J. Kinnunen, *The discrete maximal operator in metric spaces*, J. Anal. Math. 111 (2010), 369–390.
- [2] H. Aikawa and N. Shanmugalingam, Carleson-type estimates for pharmonic functions and the conformal Martin boundary of John domains in metric measure spaces, Michigan Math. J. 53 (2005), no. 1, 165–188.
- [3] L. Ambrosio, Some fine properties of sets of finite perimeter in Ahlfors regular metric measure spaces, Adv. Math. 159 (2001), no. 1, 51–67.
- [4] L. Ambrosio, Fine properties of sets of finite perimeter in doubling metric measure spaces, Calculus of variations, nonsmooth analysis and related topics. Set-Valued Anal. 10 (2002), no. 2-3, 111–128.
- [5] L. Ambrosio and G. Dal Maso, On the relaxation in  $BV(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m)$  of quasi-convex integrals, J. Funct. Anal. 109 (1992), no. 1, 76–97.
- [6] L. Ambrosio and S. Di Marino, Equivalent definitions of BV space and of total variation on metric measure spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 266 (2014), no. 7, 4150–4188.
- [7] L. Ambrosio, N. Fusco, and D. Pallara, Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems, Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 2000. xviii+434 pp.
- [8] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, and G. Savaré, Density of Lipschitz functions and equivalence of weak gradients in metric measure spaces, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 29 (2013), no. 3, 969–996.
- [9] L. Ambrosio, M. Miranda, Jr., and D. Pallara, Special functions of bounded variation in doubling metric measure spaces, Calculus of variations: topics from the mathematical heritage of E. De Giorgi, 1-45, Quad. Mat., 14, Dept. Math., Seconda Univ. Napoli, Caserta, 2004.
- [10] L. Ambrosio and P. Tilli, *Topics on analysis in metric spaces*, Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, 25. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2004. viii+133 pp.

- [11] H. Attouch, G. Buttazzo, and G. Michaille, Variational analysis in Sobolev and BV spaces. Applications to PDEs and optimization, MPS/SIAM Series on Optimization, 6. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA; Mathematical Programming Society (MPS), Philadelphia, PA, 2006. xii+634 pp.
- [12] A. Baldi and F. Montefalcone, A note on the extension of BV functions in metric measure spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 340 (2008), no. 1, 197– 208.
- [13] A. Björn and J. Björn, Nonlinear potential theory on metric spaces, EMS Tracts in Mathematics, 17. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2011. xii+403 pp.
- [14] A. Björn, J. Björn, and N. Shanmugalingam, Quasicontinuity of Newton-Sobolev functions and density of Lipschitz functions on metric spaces, Houston J. Math. 34 (2008), no. 4, 1197–1211.
- [15] A. Björn, J. Björn, and N. Shanmugalingam, Sobolev extensions of Hölder continuous and characteristic functions on metric spaces, Canad. J. Math. 59 (2007), no. 6, 1135–1153.
- [16] J. Björn and N. Shanmugalingam, Poincaré inequalities, uniform domains and extension properties for Newton-Sobolev functions in metric spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 332 (2007), no. 1, 190–208.
- [17] S. Bobkov and C. Houdré, Some connections between isoperimetric and Sobolev-type inequalities, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 129 (1997), no. 616, viii+111 pp.
- [18] S. Buckley, Is the maximal function of a Lipschitz function continuous?, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 24 (1999), no. 2, 519–528.
- [19] C. S. Camfield, Comparison of BV norms in weighted Euclidean spaces and metric measure spaces, Thesis (Ph.D.)–University of Cincinnati. 2008. 141 pp.
- [20] J. Cheeger, Differentiability of Lipschitz functions on metric measure spaces, Geom. Funct. Anal. 9 (1999), no. 3, 428–517.
- [21] R. R. Coifman and G. Weiss, Analyse harmonique non-commutative sur certains espaces homogènes, Étude de certaines intégrales singulières. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 242. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1971. v+160 pp.
- [22] L. C. Evans and R. F. Gariepy, Measure theory and fine properties of functions, Studies in Advanced Mathematics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1992. viii+268 pp.
- [23] H. Federer, Geometric measure theory, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 153 Springer-Verlag New York Inc., New York 1969 xiv+676 pp.

- [24] B. Franchi, P. Hajłasz, and P. Koskela, *Definitions of Sobolev classes on metric spaces*, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 49 (1999), no. 6, 1903–1924.
- [25] B. Fuglede, Extremal length and functional completion, Acta Math. 98 1957 171–219.
- [26] M. Giaquinta, G. Modica, and J. Souček, Cartesian currents in the calculus of variations. II. Variational integrals, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], 38. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998. xxiv+697 pp.
- [27] E. Giusti, Minimal surfaces and functions of bounded variation, Monographs in Mathematics, 80. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1984. xii+240 pp.
- [28] P. Hajłasz, A new characterization of the Sobolev space, Studia Math. 159 (2003), no. 2, 263–275.
- [29] P. Hajłasz, Sobolev spaces on an arbitrary metric space, Potential Anal. 5 (1996), no. 4, 403–415.
- [30] P. Hajłasz, Sobolev spaces on metric-measure spaces, Heat kernels and analysis on manifolds, graphs, and metric spaces (Paris, 2002), 173–218. Contemp. Math., 338, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003.
- [31] P. Hajłasz and P. Koskela, Sobolev met Poincaré, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 145 (2000), no. 688, x+101 pp.
- [32] P. Hajłasz, P. Koskela, and H. Tuominen, Measure density and extendability of Sobolev functions, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 24 (2008), no. 2, 645–669.
- [33] H. Hakkarainen and J. Kinnunen, *The BV-capacity in metric spaces*, Manuscripta Math. 132 (2010), no. 1-2, 51–73.
- [34] H. Hakkarainen, J. Kinnunen, and P. Lahti, *Regularity of minimizers of the area functional in metric spaces*, to appear in Advances in Calculus of Variations.
- [35] H. Hakkarainen, R. Korte, P. Lahti, and N. Shanmugalingam, Stability and continuity of functions of least gradients, preprint 2014.
- [36] H. Hakkarainen and N. Shanmugalingam, Comparisons of relative BV-capacities and Sobolev capacity in metric spaces, Nonlinear Anal. 74 (2011), no. 16, 5525–5543.
- [37] L. I. Hedberg, On certain convolution inequalities, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 36 (1972), 505–510.

Bibliography

- [38] T. Heikkinen, J. Kinnunen, J. Nuutinen, and H. Tuominen, Mapping properties of the discrete fractional maximal operator in metric measure spaces, Kyoto J. Math. 53 (2013), no. 3, 693–712.
- [39] T. Heikkinen, P. Koskela, and H. Tuominen, Sobolev-type spaces from generalized Poincaré inequalities, Studia Math. 181 (2007), no. 1, 1– 16.
- [40] J. Heinonen, *Lectures on analysis on metric spaces*, Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2001. x+140 pp.
- [41] J. Heinonen and P. Koskela, Quasiconformal maps in metric spaces with controlled geometry, Acta Math. 181 (1998), no. 1, 1–61.
- [42] J. Heinonen, P. Koskela, N. Shanmugalingam, and J. T. Tyson, Sobolev spaces on metric measure spaces: an approach based on upper gradients, in preparation.
- [43] P. W. Jones, Quasiconformal mappings and extendability of functions in Sobolev spaces, Acta Math. 147 (1981), no. 1-2, 71–88.
- [44] S. Keith, Modulus and the Poincaré inequality on metric measure spaces, Math. Z. 245 (2003), no. 2, 255–292.
- [45] S. Keith and X. Zhong, The Poincaré inequality is an open ended condition, Ann. of Math. (2) 167 (2008), no. 2, 575–599.
- [46] J. Kinnunen and R. Korte, Characterizations of Sobolev inequalities on metric spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 344 (2008), no. 2, 1093–1104.
- [47] J. Kinnunen, R. Korte, A. Lorent, and N. Shanmugalingam, Regularity of sets with quasiminimal boundary surfaces in metric spaces, J. Geom. Anal. 23 (2013), no. 4, 1607–1640.
- [48] J. Kinnunen, R. Korte, N. Shanmugalingam, and H. Tuominen, A characterization of Newtonian functions with zero boundary values, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 43 (2012), no. 3-4, 507–528.
- [49] J. Kinnunen, R. Korte, N. Shanmugalingam, and H. Tuominen, Lebesgue points and capacities via the boxing inequality in metric spaces, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 57 (2008), no. 1, 401–430.
- [50] J. Kinnunen, R. Korte, N. Shanmugalingam, and H. Tuominen, Pointwise properties of functions of bounded variation in metric spaces, Rev. Mat. Complut. 27 (2014), no. 1, 41–67.
- [51] R. Korte, Geometric implications of the Poincaré inequality, Results Math. 50 (2007), no. 1-2, 93–107.
- [52] P. Koskela and P. MacManus, *Quasiconformal mappings and Sobolev spaces*, Studia Math. 131 (1998), no. 1, 1–17.
- [53] P. Koskela, M. Miranda, and N. Shanmugalingam, Geometric properties of planar BV-extension domains, Around the research of Vladimir Maz'ya. I, 255–272, Int. Math. Ser. (N. Y.), 11, Springer, New York, 2010.

- [54] O. E. Maasalo [O. E. Kansanen], The Gehring lemma in metric spaces, in Self-improving Phenomena in the Calculus of Variations on Metric Spaces, Ph.D. thesis, Helsinki University of Technology, Helsinki, 2008. arXiv:0704.3916v3
- [55] R. A. Macías and C. Segovia, A decomposition into atoms of distributions on spaces of homogeneous type, Adv. in Math. 33 (1979), no. 3, 271–309.
- [56] F. Maggi, Sets of finite perimeter and geometric variational problems. An introduction to geometric measure theory, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 135. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2012. xx+454 pp.
- [57] J. Malý, Coarea integration in metric spaces, NAFSA 7—Nonlinear analysis, function spaces and applications. Vol. 7, 148–192, Czech. Acad. Sci., Prague, 2003.
- [58] V. Maz'ya, Lectures on isoperimetric and isocapacitary inequalities in the theory of Sobolev spaces, Heat kernels and analysis on manifolds, graphs, and metric spaces (Paris, 2002), 307–340, Contemp. Math., 338, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003.
- [59] V. Maz'ya, Sobolev spaces with applications to elliptic partial differential equations, Second, revised and augmented edition. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], 342. Springer, Heidelberg, 2011. xxviii+866 pp.
- [60] M. Miranda, Jr., Functions of bounded variation on "good" metric spaces, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 82 (2003), no. 8, 975–1004.
- [61] M. Ohtsuka, Extremal length and precise functions, GAKUTO International Series. Mathematical Sciences and Applications, 19. Gakkōtosho Co., Ltd., Tokyo, 2003. vi+343 pp.
- [62] W. Rudin, Functional analysis, Second edition. International Series in Pure and Applied Mathematics. McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1991. xviii+424 pp.
- [63] L. Saloff-Coste, Aspects of Sobolev-type inequalities, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, 289. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002. x+190 pp.
- [64] S. Semmes, Finding curves on general spaces through quantitative topology, with applications to Sobolev and Poincaré inequalities, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 2 (1996), no. 2, 155–295.
- [65] N. Shanmugalingam, Newtonian spaces: an extension of Sobolev spaces to metric measure spaces, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 16 (2000), no. 2, 243–279.

Bibliography

- [66] E. Stein, Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals, Princeton Mathematical Series, 43.
   Monographs in Harmonic Analysis, III. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993. xiv+695 pp.
- [67] W. P. Ziemer, Weakly differentiable functions. Sobolev spaces and functions of bounded variation, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 120. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989. xvi+308 pp.

In this thesis we study functions of bounded variation, abbreviated as BV functions, on metric measure spaces. We always assume the space to be equipped with a doubling measure, and mostly we also assume it to support a Poincaré inequality.

A central topic in the thesis are the various characterizations of BV functions. We prove a pointwise characterization of BV functions, and we study the so-called Federer-type characterization of sets of finite perimeter.

Moreover, we study functionals of linear growth, which give a generalization of BV functions, and consider a related minimization problem. This also leads us to the study of boundary traces and extensions of BV functions.



ISBN 978-952-60-5633-3 ISBN 978-952-60-5634-0 (pdf) ISSN-L 1799-4934 ISSN 1799-4934 ISSN 1799-4942 (pdf)

Aalto University School of Science Department of Mathematics and Systems Analysis www.aalto.fi BUSINESS + ECONOMY

ART + DESIGN + ARCHITECTURE

SCIENCE + TECHNOLOGY

CROSSOVER

DOCTORAL DISSERTATIONS